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(Currency: INR in Lakhs)
Particulars Note 

No.
As at  

31 March 2019
As at  

31 March 2018
As at  

01 April 2017
ASSETS
1.	 Financial assets
	 (a)	 Cash and cash equivalents 4 14,295.74 1,288.48 1,018.35
	 (b)	 Bank balances other than (a) above 5 141.61 141.61 136.99
	 (c)	 Trade receivables 6 27.13 35.84 19.68
	 (d)	 Loans 7 533,397.10 423,419.13 330,035.54
	 (e)	 Other financial assets 8 235.53 171.40 138.98
	 Total financial assets 548,097.11 425,056.46 331,349.54
2.	 Non-financial assets
	 (a)	 Current tax assets (net) 9 60.44 68.16 6.76
	 (b)	 Deferred tax assets (net) 10 1,193.00 1,015.00 834.00
	 (c)	 Property, plant and equipment 11 191.29 226.49 185.19
	 (d)	 Other intangible assets 11 56.95 57.80 11.53
	 (e)	 Capital work in progress 11 — — 3.82
	 (f)	 Intangible assets under development 11 — 2.00 —
	 (g)	 Other non-financial assets 12 117.52 133.74 39.26
	 Total non-financial assets 1,619.20 1,503.19 1,080.56
Total assets 549,716.31 426,559.65 332,430.10
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
LIABILITIES
1.	 Financial liabilities
	 (a)	 Payables
		  i)	 Trade payables
			   –	 Total outstanding dues of micro enterprises and 

small enterprises
— — —

			   –	 Total outstanding dues of creditors other than 
micro enterprises and small enterprises

13 1,018.39 873.65 682.39

	 (b)	 Debt securities 14 206,348.37 181,703.29 137,060.86
	 (c)	 Borrowings (other than debt securities) 15 222,644.38 152,847.15 132,766.79
	 (d)	 Subordinated liabilities 16 47,376.77 39,888.77 24,932.89
	 (e)	 Other financial liabilities 17 8,381.70 5,484.78 5,126.18
	 Total financial liabilities 485,769.61 380,797.64 300,569.11
2.	 Non-financial liabilities
	 (a)	 Current tax liabilities (net) 18 264.39 196.27 2.36
	 (b)	 Provisions 19 288.68 213.29 152.18
	 (c)	 Other non-financial liabilities 20 347.36 457.17 463.01
	 Total non-financial liabilities 900.43 866.73 617.55
Total liabilities 486,670.04 381,664.37 301,186.66
EQUITY
	 (a)	 Equity share capital 21 6,902.08 6,452.64 6,074.20
	 (b)	 Other equity 22 56,144.19 38,442.64 25,169.24
Total equity 63,046.27 44,895.28 31,243.44
Total liabilities and equity 549,716.31 426,559.65 332,430.10
See accompanying Notes to the financial statements

Balance sheet as at 31 March 2019
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Statement of Profit and Loss for the year ended 31 March 2019
(Currency: INR in Lakhs)

Particulars Note 
No.

For the year ended  
31 March 2019

For the year ended  
31 March 2018

I.	 Revenue from operations
	 (a)	 Interest income 23 59,105.60 47,443.00
	 (b)	 Dividend income 65.30 17.85
	 (c)	 Fees and commission income 24 1,102.48 1,021.26
	 (d)	 Net gain on fair value changes 79.05 —
	 Total revenue from operations 60,352.43 48,482.11
II.	 Other income 0.11 0.05
III.	 Total income (I + II) 60,352.54 48,482.16
IV.	 Expenses
	 (a)	 Finance costs 25 37,382.77 28,383.99
	 (b)	 Impairment on financial instruments (Expected credit loss) 28 270.76 134.74
	 (c)	 Employee benefit expense 26 2,942.62 2,619.85
	 (d)	 Depreciation and amortisation 11 88.99 63.71
	 (e)	 Other expenses 27 3,976.84 3,718.44
	 Total expenses 44,661.98 34,920.73
V.	 Profit before Tax (III – IV) 15,690.56 13,561.43
VI.	 Tax expense
	 –	 Current tax 30 5,694.20 5,084.98
	 –	 Deferred tax 31 (172.88) (181.09)
	 Total tax expense 5,521.32 4,903.89
VII.	 Net profit after tax (V – VI) 10,169.24 8,657.54
VIII.	Other comprehensive income
		  Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss
		  –	 Remeasurement of the defined benefit plans (9.54) 0.12
	 Other comprehensive income (9.54) 0.12
IX.	 Total comprehensive income (VII + VIII) 10,159.70 8,657.66
X.	 Earnings per equity share:
	 (a)	 Basic (in `) 32 15.05 14.03
	 (b)	 Diluted (in `) 32 8.30 7.42
	 (c)	 Face value per share (in `) 10 10
See accompanying Notes to the Financial Statements
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A.	 Equity share capital
(Currency: INR in Lakhs)

Particulars Amount
Issued, Subscribed and fully paid up:
Balance as at 01 April 2017 6,074.20
Issued during the year:
— Rights issue to Housing Development Finance Corporation Limited (the Holding Company) 378.44
Balance as at 31 March 2018 6,452.64
Balance as at 01 April 2018 6,452.64
Issued during the year:
— Rights issue to Housing Development Finance Corporation Limited (the Holding Company) 449.44
Balance as at 31 March 2019 6,902.08

B.	 Other equity
(Currency: INR in Lakhs)

Particulars Note 
No.

Non cumulative 
compulsorily 
convertible 
preference 

shares (CCPS)

Reserves and surplus Other 
comprehensive 

income

Total

Capital  
reserve

Securities 
premium

Retained 
earnings

Statutory 
reserve RBI

Remeasure-
ment of defined 

benefit plans
Balance as at 01 April 2017 6,700.00 109.46 5,680.04 9,348.15 3,331.59 — 25,169.24
Profit for the year 22 — — — 8,657.54 — — 8,657.54
Other comprehensive income for the year 0.12 0.12
Total comprehensive income for the year — — — 8,657.54 — 0.12 8,657.66
Transfer from retained earnings 22 — — — (1,741.50) 1,741.50 — —
Expenses incurred in respect of issue of equity capital — — (5.00) — — — (5.00)
Transactions with owners, recorded directly in equity
Dividend on compulsorily convertible preference shares — — — (0.67) — — (0.67)
Dividend distribution tax — — — (0.14) — — (0.14)
Securities premium on fresh equity shares issued 21 — — 4,621.55 — — — 4,621.55
Total transactions with owners, recorded directly in equity — — 4,621.55 (0.81) — — 4,620.74
Balance as at 31 March 2018 6,700.00 109.46 10,296.59 16,263.38 5,073.09 0.12 38,442.64
Balance as at April 1, 2018 6,700.00 109.46 10,296.59 16,263.38 5,073.09 0.12 38,442.64
Profit for the year — — — 10,169.24 — — 10,169.24
Other comprehensive income for the year — — — — — (9.54) (9.54)
Total comprehensive income for the year — — — 10,169.24 — (9.54) 10,159.70
Transfer from retained earnings — — — (2,033.85) 2,033.85 — —
Expenses incurred in respect of issue of equity capital — — (8.00) — — — (8.00)
Transactions with owners, recorded directly in equity
Dividend on compulsorily convertible preference shares — — — (0.67) — — (0.67)
Dividend distribution tax — — — (0.14) — — (0.14)
Securities premium on fresh equity shares issued 21 — — 7,550.66 — — — 7,550.66
Total transactions with owners, recorded directly in equity — — 7,550.66 (0.81) — — 7,549.85
Balance as at 31 March 2019 6,700.00 109.46 17,839.25 24,397.96 7,106.94 (9.42) 56,144.19

See accompanying Notes to the Financial Statements

Statement of Changes in Equity for the year ended 31 March 2019

As per our report of even date attached.
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Subodh Salunke 
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Biswamohan Mahapatra 
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Sudhin Choksey 
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(DIN – 00036085)

Sebastian Fernandez 
Chief Financial Officer 
(FCA: 112793)

Akanksha Kandoi 
Company Secretary 
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Place : Mumbai 
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Statement of Cash Flow for the year ended 31 March 2019

(Currency: INR in Lakhs)
Particulars For the year ended 

31 March 2019
For the year ended 

31 March 2018
A.	 Cash flow from operating activities
	 Profit before tax 15,690.56 13,561.43
	 Adjustments to reconcile profit before tax to net cash flows :
		  Depreciation & amortisation 88.99 63.71
		  Impairment on financial instruments 270.76 134.74
		  (Profit)/loss on property, plant and equipment discarded 1.26 0.24
		  Interest expense 37,223.79 28,252.92
		  Interest income (59,105.60) (47,443.00)
		  Interest on income tax payable — 58.00
		  Provision for employee benefits 53.60 72.91
	 Working capital changes
		  Loans (92,930.60) (92,124.20)
		  Trade receivables 8.71 (16.16)
		  Trade payable 144.73 191.27
		  Other financial assets (64.13) (32.42)
		  Other non financial assets 16.22 (94.49)
		  Other non financial liabilities and provisions (118.68) (19.87)
		  Purchase of investments (1,67,500.00) (45,700.00)
		  Sale of investments 1,67,500.00 45,700.00
		  Bank balances other than cash and cash equivalents
		  -	 Placed (1,10,001.00) (135.00)
		  -	 Matured 1,10,001.00 130.00
		  Income tax paid (5,618.35) (5,010.47)
		  Interest received 41,808.58 46,051.31
	 Net cash flows used in operating activities (62,530.16) (56,359.08)
B.	 Cash flow from investing activities
	 Purchase of fixed and intangible assets (52.33) (150.00)
	 Proceeds from sale of property and equipment 0.15 0.29
	 Net cash flows used in investing activities (52.18) (149.71)
C.	 Cash flow from financing activities
	 Debt securities issued 3,02,719.20 2,68,428.09
	 Debt securities repaid (2,82,500.00) (2,27,500.00)
	 Borrowings other than debt securities issued 3,38,052.12 1,92,153.57
	 Borrowings other than debt securities repaid (2,68,177.14) (1,72,068.66)
	 Subordinated liabilities issued 7,476.87 14,948.27
	 Proceeds from issue of equity shares (net of issue expenses) 7,992.00 4,994.99
	 Dividends paid including DDT (0.81) (0.81)
	 Interest paid (29,972.65) (24,176.52)
	 Net cash flows from financing activities 75,589.60 56,778.92
	 Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (A+B+C) 13,007.26 270.13
	 Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 1,288.48 1,018.35
	 Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year [Refer note no 4] 14,295.74 1,288.48
Note: The above statement of cash flow has been prepared under the ‘indirect method’ as set out in Ind AS 7 on ‘Statement of Cash Flows’.
See accompanying notes forming part of the financial statements
As per our report of even date attached.
For B S R & Co. LLP 
Chartered Accountants 
Firm’s Registration No: 101248W/W-100022

For and on behalf of Board of Directors of 
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CIN No: U67190MH2006PTC159411

Akeel Master 
Partner 
Membership No: 046768

V.S.Rangan  
Chairman 
(DIN – 00030248)

Anil Bohora 
Managing Director 
(DIN – 00694396)

Ajay Bohora 
Managing Director & CEO 
(DIN – 00694444)

Madhumita Ganguli 
Director 
(DIN – 00676830)

Subodh Salunke 
Executive Vice Chairman 
(DIN – 03053815)

Biswamohan Mahapatra 
Director 
(DIN - 06990345)

Sudhin Choksey 
Director 
(DIN – 00036085)

Sebastian Fernandez 
Chief Financial Officer 
(FCA: 112793)

Akanksha Kandoi 
Company Secretary 
(FCS: 6883)

Place : Mumbai 
Date : 10 May 2019

Place : Mumbai 
Date : 10 May 2019
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1.	 Company Overview
	 HDFC Credila Financial Services Private Limited (the “Company”) is engaged in the business of originating, funding 

and servicing loans for the education of Indian students and in providing ancillary services related to the said 
business activities. With effect from July 09, 2010, the Company became subsidiary of Housing Development 
Finance Corporation Limited (“HDFC”/ the “Holding Company”). The Company is Systemically Important Non-
deposit taking Non-Banking Financial Company (“NBFC”).

	 The Company is domiciled in India as a Private Limited Company having its Registered Office at B 301, Citi Point, 
Next to Kohinoor Continental, Andheri-Kurla Road, Andheri (East), Mumbai - 400 059. The Company’s Debt 
Securities are listed on the Bombay Stock Exchange.

	 Pursuant to Section 13 and other applicable provisions of the Companies Act, 2013 (the Act), and the Rules 
made thereunder (including any statutory modification(s) or re-enactment thereof for the time being in force), 
the name of the Company has been changed from “Credila Financial Services Private Limited” to “HDFC Credila 
Financial Services Private Limited” w.e.f. February 19, 2017.

2.	 Basis of Preparation
	 2.1	 Statement of compliance and basis of preparation and presentation of financial statements
		  The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Indian Accounting Standards as per 

the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015 as amended and notified under section 133 of 
the Companies Act, 2013 on historical cost basis except for certain financial instruments that are measured 
at fair values at the end of each reporting period as explained in the accounting policies below and the 
relevant provisions of the Act.

		  Effective April 1, 2018, the Company has adopted all the Ind AS and the adoption was carried out in 
accordance with Ind AS 101, First-time adoption of Indian Accounting Standards, with April 1, 2017 as 
the transition date. An explanation of how transition to Ind AS has affected previously reported financial 
position, financial performance and cash flow of the Company is provided in Note 39.

		  The Company’s  financial statements upto and for the year ended March 31, 2018 were prepared in 
accordance with the Generally Accepted Accounting Principles in India (IGAAP) under the historical cost 
convention as a going concern and on accrual basis, unless otherwise stated, and in accordance with the 
provisions of the Companies Act, 2013 (“the Act”), the Accounting Standards specified under section 133 
of the Act read with rule 7 of the Companies (Accounts) Rules, 2014 (as amended), prudential norms for 
Income Recognition, assets classification and provisioning for Non-performing assets as well as contingency 
provision for Standard assets as prescribed by the Reserve Bank of India (RBI) for NBFCs and the guidelines 
issued by Securities and Exchange Board of India (SEBI) to the extent applicable, collectively referred as 
“Previous GAAP”.

		  Accounting policies have been consistently applied except where a newly-issued accounting standard is 
initially adopted or a revision to an existing accounting standard requires a change in the accounting policy 
hitherto in use.

		  These financial statements were approved by the Company’s Board of Directors and authorised for issue 
on May 10, 2019.

		  The Balance Sheet, the Statement of Profit and Loss and the Statement of Changes in Equity are prepared 
and presented in the format prescribed in the Schedule III to the Act. The Statement of Cash Flows has 
been prepared and presented as per the requirements of Ind AS 7 “Statement of Cash Flows”.

		  Amounts in the financial statements are presented in Indian Rupees in Lakhs rounded off to two decimal 
places as permitted by Schedule III to the Act. Per share data is presented in Indian Rupee to two decimal 
places. The Company presents its Balance Sheet in order of liquidity. An analysis regarding recovery or 
settlement within 12 months after the reporting date and more than 12 months after the reporting date 
is presented in Note 32.

Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
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	 2.2	 Functional and presentation currency
		  The financial statements are presented in Indian Rupees (`) which is the functional and the presentation 

currency and all values are rounded to the nearest lakh, except when otherwise indicated.

	 2.3	 Basis of measurement
		  The financial statements have been prepared on historical cost basis, except for financial instruments which 

are measured at fair value.
		  Historical cost is generally the amount of cash or cash equivalents paid or the fair value of the consideration 

given in exchange for goods and services.
		  Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 

transaction between market participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that price is 
directly observable or estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset 
or a liability, the Company takes into account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants 
would take those characteristics into account when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date.

		  Fair value measurements under Ind AS are categorised into fair value hierarchy based on the degree to 
which the inputs to the fair value measurements are observable and the significance of the inputs to the 
fair value measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:

		  •	 Level 1 quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the Company 
can access at measurement date

		  •	 Level 2 inputs, other than quoted prices included within level 1, that are observable for the asset or 
liability, either directly or indirectly; and

		  •	 Level 3 where unobservable inputs are used for the valuation of assets or liabilities

	 2.4	 Use of estimates and judgements
		  The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with Ind AS requires the Management to make 

estimates, judgements and assumptions. These estimates, judgements and assumptions affect the 
application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosures of 
contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and reported amounts of revenues 
and expenses during the period. Accounting estimates could change from period to period. Actual results 
could differ from those estimates. Appropriate changes in estimates are made as the Management becomes 
aware of changes in circumstances surrounding the estimates. Changes in estimates are reflected in the 
financial statements in the period in which changes are made and, if material, their effects are disclosed 
in the notes to the financial statements.

		  Following areas entail a high degree of estimate and judgement or complexity in determining the carrying 
amount of some assets and liabilities.

		  1.	 Impairment of financial assets – Note 28 & 37.1.2
			   The measurement of impairment losses across all categories of financial assets requires judgement, 

in particular, the estimation of the amount and timing of future cash flows and collateral values 
when determining impairment losses and the assessment of a significant increase in credit risk. 
These estimates are driven by a number of factors, changes in which can result in different levels of 
allowances.

			   The Company’s ECL calculations are outputs of complex models with a number of underlying 
assumptions regarding the choice of variable inputs and their interdependencies. Elements of the 
ECL models that are considered accounting judgements and estimates include:

			   •	 The Company’s criteria for assessing if there has been a significant increase in credit risk and so 
allowances for financial assets should be measured on a Lifetime ECL basis and the qualitative 
assessment.

Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
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			   •	 The segmentation of financial assets
			   •	 Determination of associations between macroeconomic scenarios and economic inputs such 

as unemployment levels and collateral values and the effect on PDs.
			   •	 Selection of forward-looking macroeconomic scenarios and their probability weightings, to derive 

the economic inputs into the ECL models.
			   The Company’s policy is to regularly review its models in the context of actual loss experience and 

adjust when necessary. Refer note 37.1.2.
		  2.	 Effective Interest Rate (EIR) Method – Note 23 and Note 25
			   The Company’s EIR methodology recognises interest income / expense using a rate of return that 

represents the best estimate of a constant rate of return over the expected behavioural life of loans 
given / taken and recognises the effect of potentially different interest rates at various stages and 
other characteristics of the product life cycle (including prepayments).

			   This estimation, by nature, requires an element of judgement regarding the expected behaviour and 
life-cycle of the instruments, and fee income/expense that are integral parts of the instrument.

		  3.	 Recognition of deferred tax assets; availability of future taxable profits against which tax losses carried 
forward can be used – Note 10

		  4.	 Measurement of defined benefit obligations; key actuarial assumptions – Note 29 and
		  5.	 Provisions and other contingent liabilities – Note 19 & 40
			   The Company operates in a regulatory and legal environment that, by nature, has a heightened element 

of litigation risk inherent to its operations and in the ordinary course of the Company’s business.
			   When the Company can reliably measure the outflow of economic benefits in relation to a specific 

case and considers such outflows to be probable, the Company recognises a provision against the 
case. Where the probability of outflow is considered to be remote, or probable, but a reliable estimate 
cannot be made, a contingent liability is disclosed.

			   Given the subjectivity and uncertainty of determining the probability and amount of losses, the Company 
takes into account a number of factors including legal advice, the stage of the matter and historical 
evidence from similar incidents. Significant judgement is required to conclude on these estimates.

3.	 Significant Accounting Policies
	 3.1	 Revenue recognition
		  Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Company 

and the revenue can be reliably measured and there exists reasonable certainty of its recovery.
	 3.1.1	Interest income - effective interest rate method
		  Interest income on financial instruments measured at amortised cost is recognised on a time proportion 

basis taking into account the amount outstanding and the effective interest rate (EIR) applicable. Interest on 
financial instruments measured at fair value is included within the fair value movement during the period.

		  The EIR is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash flows of the financial instrument through the 
expected life of the financial instrument or where appropriate a shorter period to the net carrying amount of 
the financial instrument. The future cash flows are estimated taking into account all the contractual terms 
of the instrument.

		  The calculation of the EIR includes all fees and commission paid to parties to the contract that are incremental 
and directly attributable to the specific lending arrangement, transaction costs, and all other premiums or 
discounts. For financial assets at FVTPL, transaction costs are recognised in statement of profit and loss 
at initial recognition.

		  The interest income is calculated by applying the EIR to the gross carrying amount of non-credit impaired 
financial assets (i.e. at the amortised cost of the financial asset before adjusting for any expected credit 

Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
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loss allowance). For credit-impaired financial assets the interest income is calculated by applying the EIR to 
the amortised cost of the credit-impaired financial assets (i.e. the gross carrying amount less the allowance 
for expected credit losses (ECLs)).

	 3.1.2 Dividend income
		  Dividend income is accounted as and when right to receive dividend is established.
		  The gain / loss on account of redemption of units of mutual funds is recognised in the period in which 

redemption occurs.
	 3.1.3 Commission income
		  Income from commission includes [i] fees received from the authorised dealers on referral of foreign 

exchange, travel insurance business and sim cards & mobile plans, [ii] income on sourcing of insurance 
business to fellow subsidiary company, [iii] income on sourcing of home loan and fixed deposits to Holding 
Company. The Company recognises commission income in accordance with the terms of the relevant 
agreement and when it is probable to expect the ultimate collection.

	 3.1.4 Other fees
		  Other fees represents documentation charges, cheque bouncing charges, penal interest charges and other 

fees is recognised as income when the amount become due and there is no uncertainty in realisation.
	 3.2	 Financial instruments
	 3.2.1	 Recognition and initial measurement
		  Financial assets and liabilities, with the exception of loans, debt securities and borrowings are initially 

recognised at fair value on the trade date, i.e. the date that the Company becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the instrument. Loans are recognised when funds are transferred to the customers’ account. 
The Company recognises debt securities and borrowings when funds are received by the Company.

		  Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs and revenues 
that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other 
than financial assets and financial liabilities at FVTPL) are added to or deducted from the fair value of the 
financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs and revenues 
directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities designated at FVTPL are 
recognised immediately in statement of profit and loss.

	 3.2.2	Classification and subsequent measurement
		  Financial Assets
		  The Company classifies and measures all of its financial assets based on the business model for managing 

the assets and the asset’s contractual terms, measured at either
		  -	 Amortised cost
		  -	 FVTPL
		  •	 Amortised cost
			   The Company measures cash and bank balances, loans and advances, trade receivables and other 

financial assets at amortised cost. The Company assesses the classification and measurement of a 
financial asset based on the contractual cash flow characteristics of the asset and the Company’s 
business model for managing the asset.

			   Business Model assessment
			   The Company determines the business model at a level that reflects how financial assets are managed 

together to achieve a particular business objective. The Company’s business model does not depend 
on management’s intentions for an individual instrument, therefore the business model assessment 
is performed at a higher level of aggregation rather than on an instrument-by-instrument basis.

			   The Company considers all relevant information available when making the business model assessment. 

Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
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The Company takes into account all relevant evidence available such as:
			   -	 how the performance of the business model and the financial assets held within that business 

model are evaluated and reported to the Company’s key management personnel;
			   -	 the risks that affect the performance of the business model (and the financial assets held within 

that business model) and in particular, the way in which those risks are managed; and
			   -	 how managers of the business are compensated (e.g. whether the compensation is based on 

the fair value of the assets managed or on the contractual cash flows collected).
			   At initial recognition of a financial asset, the Company determines whether newly recognised financial 

assets are part of an existing business model or whether they reflect a new business model. The 
Company reassess its business models each reporting period to determine whether the business 
models have changed since the preceding period.

			   Solely payments of principal and interest (SPPI) test
			   For an asset to be classified and measured at amortised cost, its contractual terms should give rise 

to cash flows that meets the SPPI test on the principal outstanding.
			   For the purpose of SPPI test, principal is the fair value of the financial asset at initial recognition. 

That principal amount may change over the life of the financial asset (e.g. if there are repayments of 
principal). Interest consists of consideration for the time value of money, for the credit risk associated 
with the principal amount outstanding during a particular period of time and for other basic lending 
risks and costs, as well as a profit margin. The SPPI assessment is made in the currency in which the 
financial asset is denominated.

			   Contractual cash flows that are SPPI are consistent with a basic lending arrangement. Contractual 
terms that introduce exposure to risks or volatility in the contractual cash flows that are unrelated to 
a basic lending arrangement, such as exposure to changes in equity prices or commodity prices, do 
not give rise to contractual cash flows that are SPPI. An originated or an acquired financial asset can 
be a basic lending arrangement irrespective of whether it is a loan in its legal form.

		  •	 FVTPL
			   Financial assets at FVTPL are:
			   -	 assets with contractual cash flows that are not SPPI; or/and
			   -	 assets that are held in a business model other than held to collect contractual cash flows or 

held to collect and sell; or
			   -	 assets designated at FVTPL using the fair value option.
			   These assets are measured at fair value, with any gains/losses arising on remeasurement recognised 

in statement of profit and loss.
			   Subsequent measurement and gains and losses
			   The Company assesses the classification and measurement of a financial asset based on the contractual 

cash flow characteristics of the asset and the Company’s business model for managing the asset.

Financial assets at amortised cost These assets are subsequently measured at amortised 
cost using the effective interest method. The amortised 
cost is reduced by impairment losses. Interest income and 
impairment loss are recognised in statement of profit and 
loss. Any gain or loss on derecognition is recognised in 
statement of profit and loss.

Financial assets at FVTPL These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Net 
gains and losses, including any interest or dividend income, 
are recognised in statement of profit and loss.
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			   Financial liabilities and equity instruments
		  •	 Classification as debt or equity
			   Debt and equity instruments that are issued are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in 

accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangement.
		  •	 Equity instruments
			   An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after 

deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are recognised at the proceeds 
received, net of direct issue costs.

		  •	 Financial Liabilities
			   Financial liabilities are classified as measured at amortised cost.
		  Subsequent measurementand gains and losses
		  Financial liabilities, which are classified as measured at amortised cost are subsequently measured at 

amortised cost using the effective interest method. Interest expense is recognised in statement of profit 
and loss. Any gain or loss on derecognition is also recognised in profit or loss.

		  Compound instruments
		  The component parts of compound instruments (e.g. compulsorily convertible preference shares) issued by 

the Company are classified separately as financial liabilities and equity in accordance with the substance 
of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument. A 
conversion option that will be settled by the exchange of a fixed amount of cash or another financial asset 
for a fixed number of the Company’s own equity instruments is an equity instrument.

		  At the date of issue, the fair value of the liability component is estimated using the prevailing market interest 
rate for similar non-convertible instruments. Subsequent to initial recognition, the liability component of 
the compulsorily convertible preference shares is measured at amortised cost.

		  A conversion option classified as equity is determined by deducting the amount of the liability component 
from the fair value of the compound instrument as a whole. This is recognised and included in equity, net 
of income tax effects, and is not subsequently re-measured. In addition, the conversion option classified as 
equity will remain in equity until the conversion option is exercised, in which case, the balance recognised 
in equity will be transferred to share capital and share premium. Where the conversion option remains 
unexercised at the maturity date of the convertible note, the balance recognised in equity will be transferred 
to retained profits. No gain/loss is recognised in statement of profit and loss upon conversion or expiration 
of the conversion option.

		  Transaction costs that relate to the issue of the compulsorily convertible preference shares are allocated to 
the liability and equity components in proportion to the allocation of the initial carrying amounts. Transaction 
costs relating to the equity component are recognised directly in equity. Transaction costs relating to the 
liability component are included in the carrying amount of the liability component and are amortised over 
the life of the convertible notes using the effective interest method.

		  Undrawn commitments
		  Undrawn loan commitments are commitments under which, over the duration of the commitment, the 

Company is required to provide a loan with pre-specified terms to the customer. Commitment starts from 
the date of the loan draw down till the study period is over or the amount is fully drawn down, whichever is 
earlier. Undrawn loan commitments are in the scope of the ECL requirements.

		  The nominal contractual value of undrawn loan commitments, where the loan agreed to be provided is on 
market terms, are not recorded in the balance sheet. The nominal values of these instruments together 
with the corresponding ECLs are disclosed in Note 37.1.2.
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	 3.2.3	Reclassifications
		  If the business model under which the Company holds financial assets changes, the financial assets 

affected are reclassified. The classification and measurement requirements related to the new category 
apply prospectively from the first day of the first reporting period following the change in business model that 
results in reclassifying the Company’s financial assets. Changes in contractual cash flows are considered 
under the accounting policy on Modification and derecognition of financial assets described below.

	 3.2.4	Modification and derecognition
		  Financial assets
		  A modification of a financial asset occurs when the contractual terms governing the cash flows of a financial 

asset are renegotiated or otherwise modified between initial recognition and maturity of the financial asset. A 
modification affects the amount and/or timing of the contractual cash flows either immediately or at a future 
date. In addition, the introduction or adjustment of existing covenants of an existing loan would constitute a 
modification even if these new or adjusted covenants do not yet affect the cash flows immediately but may 
affect the cash flows depending on whether the covenant is or is not met (e.g. a change to the increase in 
the interest rate that arises when covenants are breached).

		  The Company provides education loans and some of the terms and conditions of these loans are based on 
future conditions that are envisaged at the time of the sanctioning / disbursement of the loan, e.g. Study 
period is based on selection of course / terms and actual completion of study. Due to these conditions, the 
amount, tenure, etc. of the cash flows from the loans may undergo changes till the starting of EMI on the 
loan. The change in terms till such time are not considered as modification of financial assets since these 
are as per the original terms of the loan.

		  The Company, as a practise, does not renegotiate loans to customers in financial difficulty. The Company 
derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expires, 
or it transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows in a transaction in which substantially all of 
the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial assets are transferred or in which the Company neither 
transfers nor retains substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership and does not retain control of 
the financial assets.

		  Financial Liabilities
		  The Company derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Company’s obligations are 

discharged, cancelled or have expired. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability 
derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is recognised in statement of profit and loss.

		  Where an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different 
terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is 
treated as a derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability. The difference between 
the carrying value of the original financial liability and the consideration paid is recognised in statement of 
profit and loss.

	 3.2.5	Impairment
		  The Company recognises allowances for ECLs for loans and advances to customers, other debt financial 

assets not measured at FVTPL, along with loan commitments issued, together referred to as ‘financial 
instruments’. Equity instruments are not subject to impairment.

		  ECL is required to be measured through a loss allowance at an amount equal to:
		  -	 12-month ECL, i.e. loss allowance on default events on the financial instrument that are possible 

within 12 months after the reporting date, (referred to as Stage 1); or
		  -	 Lifetime ECL, i.e. lifetime ECL that result from all possible default events over the life of the financial 

instrument, (referred to as Stage 2 and Stage 3).
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		  At each reporting date, the Company assesses whether financial assets carried at amortised cost are 
credit impaired or whether the credit risk on that financial asset has increased significantly since the initial 
recognition. A loss allowance for lifetime ECL is required for a financial instrument if the credit risk on that 
financial instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition. For all other financial instruments, 
ECL is measured at an amount equal to the 12-month ECL.

		  The Company has established a policy to perform an assessment, at the end of each reporting period, of 
whether a financial instrument’s credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition, by considering 
the changein the risk of default occurring over the remaining life of the financial instrument.

		  Based on the above process, the Company categorises its loans into Stage 1, Stage 2 and Stage 3, as 
describedbelow:

		  Stage 1:	 When loans are first recognised, the Company recognises an allowance based on 12-month 
ECLs. Stage 1 loans also include facilities where the credit risk has improved and the loan has 
been reclassified from Stage 2.

		  Stage 2: 	 When a loan has shown a significant increase in credit risk since origination, the Company 
records an allowance for the lifetime expected credit loss. Stage 2 loans also include facilities, 
where the credit risk has improved and the loan has been reclassified from Stage 3.

		  Stage 3: 	 Loans considered credit-impaired. The Company records an allowance for the lifetime expected 
credit loss.

		  For financial assets for which the Company has no reasonable expectations of recovering either the entire 
outstanding amount, or a proportion thereof, the gross carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced. 
This is considered a (partial) de-recognition of the financial asset.

		  Measurement of expected credit losses
		  The Company calculates ECLs based on probability-weighted scenarios to measure the expected cash 

shortfalls, discounted at an approximation to the EIR. A cash shortfall is the difference between the cash 
flows that are due to the Company in accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the Company 
expects to receive.

		  The Company measures ECL on a collective basis for portfolios of loans that share similar economic risk 
characteristics. The measurement of the loss allowance is based on the present value of the asset’s 
expected cash flows using the asset’s EIR, regardless of whether it is measured on an individual basis or 
a collective basis.

		  The mechanics of the ECL calculations are outlined below and the key elements are, as follows:
		  The Probability of Default (PD) is defined as the probability of whether the borrowers will default on their 

obligations in the future.
		  The Exposure at Default (EAD) is an estimate of the exposure at a future default date, taking into account 

expected changes in the exposure after the reporting date, including repayments of principal and interest, 
whether scheduled by contract or otherwise, expected draw downs on committed facilities, and accrued 
interest from missed payments.

		  The Loss Given Default (LGD) is an estimate of the loss arising in the case where a default occurs at a given 
time.

		  When estimating the PD with forward looking assumptions, the Company considers three scenarios (a base 
case, an upside and a downside).

		  Credit-impaired financial assets
		  A financial asset is ‘credit-impaired’ when one or more events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated 

future cash flows of the financial asset have occurred. Credit-impaired financial assets are referred to as 
Stage 3 assets. Evidence of credit-impairment includes observable data about the following events:
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		  -	 significant financial difficulty of the borrower or issuer;
		  -	 a breach of contract such as a default or past due event;
		  -	 restructuring of loan due to financial difficulty of the borrower;
		  -	 bankruptcy of the borrower;
		  It may not be possible to identify a single discrete event instead, the combined effect of several events may 

have caused financial assets to become credit-impaired.
		  A loan is considered credit-impaired when a concession is granted to the borrower due to a deterioration in 

the borrower’s financial condition, unless there is evidence that as a result of granting the concession the 
risk of not receiving the contractual cash flows has reduced significantly and there are no other indicators 
of impairment.

		  Definition of default
		  Critical to the determination of ECL is the definition of default. The definition of default is used in measuring 

the amount of ECL and in the determination of whether the loss allowance is based on 12-month or lifetime 
ECL, as default is a component of the probability of default (PD) which affects both the measurement of 
ECLs and the identification of a significant increase in credit risk.

		  The Company considers the following as constituting an event of default:
		  -	 the borrower is past due more than 90 days on any material credit obligation to the Company; or
		  -	 the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the Company in full.
		  When assessing if the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligation, the Company takes into account both 

qualitative and quantitative indicators. Quantitative indicators, such as overdue status and non-payment 
on another obligation to the Company of the same counterparty are key inputs in this analysis.

		  Significant increase in credit risk
		  The Company monitors all financial instruments that are subject to the impairment requirements to assess 

whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition. If there has been a 
significant increase in credit risk the Company will measure the loss allowance based on lifetime rather 
than 12-month ECL. The Company’s accounting policy on loans and advances is not to use the practical 
expedient for financial assets that financial assets with ‘low’ credit risk at the reporting date are deemed 
not to have had a significant increase in credit risk. As a result, the Company monitors all financial assets, 
in the nature of loans and advances and issued loan commitments that are subject to impairment for 
significant increase in credit risk.

		  In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial 
recognition, the Company compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument at the 
reporting date based on the remaining maturity of the instrument with the risk of a default occurring that 
was anticipated for the remaining maturity at the current reporting date when the financial instrument 
was first recognised. In making this assessment, the Company considers qualitative information that is 
reasonable and supportable, including the Company’s historical experience and forward-looking information 
that is available without undue cost or effort, including future prospects of general economic conditions 
based on forecasts of economic information.

		  As a back-stop when an asset becomes 30 days past due, the Company considers that a significant increase 
in credit risk has occurred and the asset is in stage 2 of the impairment model, i.e. the loss allowance is 
measured as the lifetime ECL.

		  Trade receivables and contract assets
		  The Company follows ‘simplified approach’ for recognition of impairment loss allowance on trade receivables. 

The application of simplified approach does not require the Company to track changes in credit risk. Rather, 
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it recognises impairment loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date, right from its initial 
recognition. The Company uses a provision matrix to determine impairment loss allowance on portfolio 
of its trade receivables. The provision matrix is based on its historically observed default rates over the 
expected life of the trade receivables and is adjusted for forward-looking estimates. At every reporting date, 
the historical observed default rates are updated for changes in the forward-looking estimates.

	 3.2.6	 Collateral valuation and repossession
		  To mitigate the credit risk on financial assets, the Company seeks to use collateral, where possible as per 

the Board approved Credit Policy. The Company provides fully secured, partially secured and unsecured 
education loans to individuals. The parameters relating to acceptability and valuation of each type of 
collateral is a part of the Credit Policy of the Company.

		  In its normal course of business, the Company does not physically repossess properties in its retail portfolio. 
For other collaterals the Company liquidates the assets and recovers the amount due against the loan. Any 
surplus funds are returned to the customers/obligors.

	 3.2.7	 Write-off
		  Loans and debt securities are written off when the Company has no reasonable expectations of recovering 

the financial asset (either in its entirety or a portion of it). This is the case when the Company determines 
that the borrower does not have assets or sources of income that could generate sufficient cash flows to 
repay the amounts subject to the write-off. A write-off constitutes a derecognition event. The Company 
may apply enforcement activities to financial assets written off. Recoveries resulting from the Company’s 
enforcement activities could result in impairment gains.

	 3.2.8	 Presentation of allowance for ECL in the statement of financial position
		  Loss allowances for ECL are presented in the statement of financial position as follows:
		  -	 for financial assets measured at amortised cost: as a deduction from the gross carrying amount of 

the assets; and
		  -	 for loan commitments: as a provision.
	 3.3	 Leases
		  The determination of whether an arrangement is a lease, or contains a lease, is based on the substance of 

the arrangement and requires an assessment of whether the fulfilment of the arrangement is dependent 
on the use of a specific asset or assets or whether the arrangement conveys a right to use the asset, even 
if that right is not explicitly specified in an arrangement.

		  Operating leases
		  As a lessee
		  Lease arrangements where the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset substantially vest 

with the lessor are recognised as operating leases.
		  Lease rentals on assets under operating lease are charged to the statement of profit and loss on a straight 

line basis over the term of the relevant lease unless the payments are structured to increase in line with 
expected general inflation to compensate for the lessor’s expected inflationary cost increases.

	 3.4	 Cash and cash equivalents
		  Cash and cash equivalent in the balance sheet comprise cash at banks and on hand and short-term deposits 

with an original maturity of three months or less, which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in 
value. Cash and cash equivalents are carried at amortised cost in the statement of financial position.

	 3.5	 Property, plant and equipment (PPE)
		  Recognition and measurement
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		  PPE is recognised when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to 
the Company and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. PPE is stated at original cost net of tax/
duty credits availed, if any, less accumulated depreciation and cumulative impairment, if any. Advances 
paid in respect of PPE are presented under other non financial assets.

		  PPE not ready for the intended use on the date of the Balance Sheet is disclosed as “capital work-in-
progress”.

		  Subsequent Expenditure
		  The Company does not recognise in the carrying amount of an item of property, plant and equipment the 

costs of the day-to-day servicing of the item. Rather, these costs are recognised in statement of profit and 
loss as incurred.

		  Depreciation
		  Depreciation is recognised using straight line method over the estimated useful lives of PPE, as specified in 

Schedule II to the Act, except in respect of Computers and data processing equipment. Depreciation method 
is reviewed at each financial year end to reflect expected pattern of consumption of the future economic 
benefits embodied in the asset. The estimated useful life and residual values are also reviewed at each 
financial year end with the effect of any change in the estimates of useful life/residual value is accounted 
on prospective basis.

		  Depreciation for additions to/deductions from, owned assets is calculated pro rata to the period of use. 
Depreciation charge for impaired assets is adjusted in future periods in such a manner that the revised 
carrying amount of the asset is allocated over its remaining useful life.

		  An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic 
benefits are expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the disposal 
or retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference between the 
sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in statement of profit and loss.

		  Following is the summary of useful lives of the assets as per management’s estimate and as required by 
the Companies Act, 2013 except assets individually costing less than Rupees five thousand which are fully 
depreciated in the year of purchase / acquisition:

Class of assets Useful life
Computers* 4 years
Furniture & Fittings 10 years
Office Equipment 5 years

		  *In case of Computers, life has been assessed as based on technical advice, taking into account the 
nature of the asset, the estimated usage of the asset, the operating conditions of the asset, past history 
of replacement, anticipated technological changes, manufacturers warranties and maintenance support 
etc. Hence, their useful life adopted by the Company is different from the useful life as prescribed under 
Part C of Schedule II of the Companies Act, 2013.

	 3.6	 Intangible assets
		  Intangible assets are recognised when it is probable that the future economic benefits that are attributable to 

the asset will flow to the Company and the cost of the asset can be measured reliably. Intangible assets are 
stated at original cost net of tax/duty credits availed, if any, less accumulated amortisation and cumulative 
impairment. Administrative and other general overhead expenses that are specifically attributable to 
acquisition of intangible assets are allocated and capitalised as a part of the cost of the intangible assets.

		  Intangible assets not ready for use on the date of Balance Sheet is disclosed as ‘Intangible assets under 
development’.
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		  Intangible assets are amortised on straight line basis over the estimated useful life of 5 years. The method of 
amortisation and useful life are reviewed at the end of each accounting year with the effect of any changes 
in the estimate being accounted for on a prospective basis.

		  An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no future economic benefits are expected from use 
or disposal. Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset, measured as the difference 
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset, are recognised in statement of 
profit and loss when the asset is derecognised.

	 3.7	 Impairment of non financial assets
		  As at the end of each accounting year, the Company reviews the carrying amounts of its PPE and intangible 

assets to determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. 
If such indication exists, the PPE and intangible assets are tested for impairment so as to determine the 
impairment loss, if any.

		  Impairment loss is recognised when the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. 
Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing value 
in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate 
that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for 
which the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

		  If recoverable amount of an asset is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, such deficit is recognised 
immediately in the Statement of Profit and Loss as impairment loss and the carrying amount of the asset 
is reduced to its recoverable amount.

		  In respect of assets for which impairment loss has been recognised in prior periods, the Company reviews 
at each reporting date whether there is any indication that the loss has decreased or no longer exists. An 
impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable 
amount. Such a reversal is made only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the 
carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment 
loss had been recognised.

	 3.8	 Employee benefits
		  i)	 Short term employee benefits
			   The undiscounted amount of employee benefits expected to be paid in exchange for the services 

rendered by employees are recognised during the year when the employees render the service. These 
benefits include performance incentive and compensated absences.

		  ii) 	 Defined contribution plan
			   A defined contribution plan is a post-employment benefit plan under which an entity pays fixed contribution 

into a separate entity and will have no legal or constructive obligation to pay further amounts.
			   Provident fund
			   The Company’s contribution paid/ payable during the year towards provident fund is charged to 

Statement of Profit and Loss every year. In accordance with the applicable law, all employees of the 
Company are entitled to receive benefits under the Provident Fund Act, 1952. The Company contributes 
an amount on a monthly basis at a determined rate to the pension scheme administered by the 
Regional Provident Fund Commission (RPFC) and the Company has no liability for future Provident 
Fund benefits other than its annual contribution, since it is a defined contribution plan.

		  iii)	 Defined benefit plans
			   A defined benefit plan is a post-employment benefit plan other than a defined contribution plan.
			   Gratuity and other post retirement benefits
			   The Company’s net obligation in respect of defined benefit plans is calculated by estimating the 
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amount of future benefit that employees have earned in the current and prior periods, discounting 
that amount and deducting the fair value of any plan assets.

			   Gratuity is a defined benefit plan. The cost of providing benefits is determined annually by a qualified 
actuary using the projected unit credit method. When the calculation results in a potential asset for 
the Company, the recognised asset is limited to the present value of economic benefits available in 
the form of any future refunds from the plan or reductions in future contributions to the plan (‘the 
asset ceiling’). In order to calculate the present value of economic benefits, consideration is given to 
any minimum funding requirements.

			   Remeasurements of the net defined benefit liability, which comprise actuarial gains and losses, the 
return on plan assets (excluding interest) and the effect of the asset ceiling (if any, excluding interest), 
are recognised in OCI. The Company determines the net interest expense (income) on the net defined 
benefit liability (asset) for the period by applying the discount rate used to measure the defined benefit 
obligation at the beginning of the annual period to the then-net defined benefit liability (asset), taking 
into account any changes in the net defined benefit liability (asset) during the period as a result of 
contributions and benefit payments. Net interest expense and other expenses related to defined 
benefit plans are recognised in statement of profit and loss.

			   When the benefits of a plan are changed or a plan is curtailed, the resulting change in benefit that 
relates to past service (‘past service cost’ or ‘past service gain’) or the gain or loss in curtailment is 
recognised immediately in statement of profit and loss. The Company recognises gains and losses 
on the settlement of a defined benefit plan when the settlement occurs.

		  iv) 	 Other long term employee benefits
			   Compensated absences which are not expected to occur within twelve months after the end of the 

period in which the employee renders the related service are recognised as a liability at the present 
value of the defined benefit obligation as at the balance sheet date as determined basis Actuarial 
valuation.

	 3.9	 Provisions, contingent liabilities and contingent assets
		  Provisions are recognised only when:
		  -	 the Company has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event; and
		  -	 it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the 

obligation; and
		  -	 a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation
		  Provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation and when the effect 

of time value of money is material, the carrying amount of the provision is the present value of those cash 
flows. Reimbursement expected in respect of expenditure required to settle a provision is recognised only 
when it is virtually certain that the reimbursement will be received.

		  Contingent liability is disclosed in case of:
		  -	 a present obligation arising from past events, when it is not probable that an outflow of resources will 

be required to settle the obligation; and
		  -	 a present obligation arising from past events, when no reliable estimate is possible.
		  Contingent assets are disclosed where an inflow of economic benefits is probable. Provisions, contingent 

liabilities and contingent assets are reviewed at each Balance Sheet date.
		  Where the unavoidable costs of meeting the obligations under the contract exceed the economic benefits 

expected to be received under such contract, the present obligation under the contract is recognised and 
measured as a provision.
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	 3.10	Taxes
		  Income tax expense comprises current and deferred taxes. Income tax expense is recognised in the Statement 

of Profit and Loss except when they relate to items that are recognised outside profit or loss (whether in other 
comprehensive income or directly in equity), in which case tax is also recognised outside profit or loss.

		  Current tax
		  Current income taxes are determined based on taxable income of the Company. Current tax comprises 

the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year and any adjustment to 
the tax payable or receivable in respect of previous years. The amount of current tax payable or receivable 
is the best estimate of the tax amount expected to be paid or received that reflects uncertainty related to 
income taxes, if any. It is measured using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date.

		  Deferred tax
		  Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised for the future tax consequences of temporary differences 

between the carrying values of assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases, and unutilized business 
loss and depreciation carry-forwards and tax credits. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it 
is probable that future taxable income will be available against which the deductible temporary differences, 
unused tax losses, depreciation carry-forwards and unused tax credits could be utilized. The carrying 
amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the extent that it is no 
longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to 
be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are re-assessed at each reporting date and are recognised 
to the extent that it has become probable that future taxable profits will allow the deferred tax asset to be 
recovered.

		  Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured based on the tax rates that are expected to apply in the 
period when the asset is realized or the liability is settled, based on tax rates and tax laws that have been 
enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date.

		  Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current 
tax assets against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation 
authority and the Company intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.

	 3.11	Goods and services tax input credit
		  Goods and services tax input credit is recognised in the books of accounts in the period in which the supply 

of goods or service received is recognised and when there is no uncertainty in availing/utilising the credits.
		  Expenses and assets are recognised net of the goods and services tax/value added taxes paid, except:
		  -	 When the tax incurred on a purchase of assets or services is not recoverable from the taxation authority, 

in which case, the tax paid is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of 
the expense item, as applicable

		  -	 When receivables and payables are stated with the amount of tax included
		  The net amount of tax recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part of receivables 

or payables in the balance sheet.

	 3.12	Securities premium Account
		  The issue expenses of securities which qualify as equity instruments are written off against securities 

premium account.

	 3.13	Borrowing costs
		  Borrowing costs include interest expense calculated using the EIR method. EIR includes interest, amortization 

of ancillary cost, incurred in connection with the borrowing of funds.
		  Other borrowing costs are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.

Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
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	 3.14	Foreign currencies
		  Transactions in currencies other than the Company’s functional currency are recorded on initial recognition 

using the exchange rate at the transaction date. At each Balance Sheet date, foreign currency monetary 
assets and liabilities are reported at the prevailing closing spot rate. Non-monetary items that are measured 
in terms of historical cost in foreign currency are not retranslated. Exchange differences that arise on 
settlement of monetary items or on reporting of monetary items at each Balance Sheet date at the closing 
spot rate are recognised in the statement of profit and loss in the period in which they arise.

	 3.15	Segments
		  The Company’s operations predominately relate to providing education loans in India. Based on the 

‘management approach’ as defined in Ind AS 108, the Chief Operating Decision Maker (CODM) evaluates 
the Company’s performance and allocates resources and based on the analysis, the CODM has concluded 
that there are no separate reportable segments.

	 3.16	Earnings per share (EPS)
		  Basic EPS is calculated by dividing the profit or loss that is attributable to ordinary shareholders of the 

Company by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the period. Diluted EPS 
is determined by adjusting the profit or loss that is attributable to ordinary shareholders and the weighted-
average number of ordinary shares outstanding for the effects of all dilutive potential ordinary shares.

	 3.17	Commitments
		  Commitments are future liabilities for contractual expenditure, classified and disclosed as follows:
		  -	 estimated amount of contracts remaining to be executed on capital account and not provided for;
		  -	 uncalled liability on shares and other investments partly paid;
		  -	 funding related commitment to associate and joint venture companies; and
		  -	 other non-cancellable commitments, if any, to the extent they are considered material and relevant 

in the opinion of management.
	 3.18	Statement of Cash Flows
		  Statement of Cash Flows is prepared segregating the cash flows into operating, investing and financing 

activities. Cash flow from operating activities is reported using indirect method adjusting the net profit for 
the effects of:

		  -	 changes during the period in operating receivables and payables transactions of a non-cash nature;
		  -	 non-cash items such as depreciation, provisions, deferred taxes, unrealised foreign currency gains 

and losses; and
		  -	 all other items for which the cash effects are investing or financing cash flows.
		  Cash and cash equivalents (including bank balances) shown in the Statement of Cash Flows exclude items 

which are not available for general use as on the date of Balance Sheet.
	 3.19	Standards issued but not effective
		  Following are the new standards and amendments to existing standards (as notified by Ministry of Corporate 

Affairs (MCA) on March 30, 2019 as part of the Companies (Ind AS) Amendment Rules, 2019) which are 
effective for the annual period beginning from April 01, 2019. The Company intends to adopt these standards 
and amendments from the effective date.

		  Ind AS 116 – Leases:
		  Ind AS 116 is applicable for financial reporting periods beginning on or after April 01, 2019 and replaces 

existing lease accounting guidance, namely Ind AS 17 Leases. Ind AS 116 introduces a single, on-balance 
sheet lease accounting model for lessees. A lessee recognises a right-of-use (“ROU”) asset representing  
its right to use the underlying asset and a lease liability representing its obligation to make lease  
payments. The nature of expenses related to those leases will change as Ind AS 116 replaces the 
operating lease expense (i.e. rent) with depreciation charge for ROU assets and interest expense on lease  
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liabilities. There are recognition exemptions for short-term leases and leases of low-value items. Lessor 
accounting remains similar to the current standard – i.e. lessors continue to classify leases as finance or 
operating leases.

		  The Company plans to apply Ind AS 116 on April 01, 2019, using the modified retrospective approach. 
Therefore, the impact (if any) on adoption of the new standard will be recognised as an adjustment to the 
opening balance of retained earnings as at April 01, 2019, with no restatement of comparative information.

		  The Company is in the process of analysing the impact of new lease standard on its financial statements. 
		  Amendments to existing Ind AS: 
		  The following amended standards are not expected to have a significant impact on the Company’s financial 

statements. This assessment is based on currently available information and is subject to changes arising 
from further reasonable and supportable information being made available to the Company when it adopts 
the respective amended standards. 

		  (i)	 Amendment to Ind AS 12 Income Taxes:
			   Income tax consequences of distribution of profits (i.e. dividends), including payments on financial 

instruments classified as equity, should be recognised when a liability to pay dividend is recognised.
			   The income tax consequences should be recognised in the Statement of Profit and Loss, Other 

Comprehensive Income or equity according to where the past transactions or events that generated 
distributable profits were originally recognised.

			   Appendix C has been added to Ind AS 12 which seeks to bring clarity to the accounting for uncertainties 
on income tax treatments that are yet to be accepted by tax authorities and to reflect it in the 
measurement of current and deferred taxes.

		  (ii) 	 Amendments to Ind AS 109 Financial Instruments:
			   A financial asset would be classified and measured at amortised cost or at Fair Value Through Other 

Comprehensive Income (FVOCI) if its contractual cash flows are solely in the nature of principal and 
interest on the principal amount outstanding (SPPI criterion).

			   An exception has been prescribed to the classification and measurement requirements with respect 
to the SPPI criterion for financial assets that:

			   -	 Have a prepayment feature which results in a negative compensation.
			   -	 Apart from the prepayment feature, other features of the financial asset would have contractual 

cash flows which would meet the SPPI criterion, and
			   -	 The fair value of the prepayment feature is insignificant when the entity initially recognises the 

financial asset. If this is impracticable to assess based on facts and circumstances that existed 
on initial recognition of the asset, then the exception would not be available.

			   Such financial assets could be measured at amortised cost or at FVOCI based on the business model 
within which they are held.

		  (iii) 	 Amendments to Ind AS 19 Employee Benefits
			   When a defined benefit plan is amended, curtailed or settled, entities would be required to use updated 

actuarial assumptions to determine its current service cost and net interest for the remainder of the 
annual reporting period (post the plan amendment, curtailment or settlement).

			   The effect of the asset ceiling would not be considered while calculating the gain or loss on any 
settlement of the plan. Subsequently, it would be recognised in Other Comprehensive Income.

			   The amendments that are not yet effective, made to the following existing standards, does not have 
any impact on the Company’s financial statements:

			   -	 Ind AS 23 Borrowing Costs
			   -	 Ind AS 28 Investments in Associate and Joint Ventures
			   -	 Ind AS 103 Business Combinations
			   -	 Ind AS 111 Joint Arrangements

Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
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4	 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
(Currency: INR in Lakhs)

As at  
31 March 2019

As at  
31 March 2018

As at  
01 April 2017

Balances with bank
—	 In current accounts 14,295.74 1,287.48 982.85
—	 In deposits accounts having original maturity less 

than 3 months — 1.00 35.50
14,295.74 1,288.48 1,018.35

Balances with banks in current account does not earn any interest. Balance in deposit account earns interest 
at fixed rates for varying periods of between one day and three months, depending on the immediate cash 
requirements of the Company.

5.	 BANK BALANCES OTHER THAN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
(Currency: INR in Lakhs)

As at  
31 March 2019

As at  
31 March 2018

As at  
01 April 2017

In deposits accounts having original maturity more than 
3 months

16.61 16.61 16.99

Deposits with banks to the extent held as security 
against the borrowings and guarantees* 125.00 125.00 120.00

141.61 141.61 136.99

	 *Deposits of ` 100 lakhs (as on 31 March 2018 ` 100 lakhs; as on 01 April 2017 ` 120 lakhs) are marked 
as lien for overdraft facility from Punjab National Bank & Deposits of ` 25 lakhs (as on 31 March 2018 ` 25 
lakhs; as on 01 April 2017 ` Nil) are marked as lien for bank guarantee given to UIDAI.

6.	 TRADE RECEIVABLES
(Currency: INR in Lakhs)

As at  
31 March 2019

As at  
31 March 2018

As at  
01 April 2017

Unsecured; considered good 27.13 35.84 19.68
Unsecured; which have significant increase in credit risk — — —

27.13 35.84 19.68
Provision for impairment — — —

27.13 35.84 19.68

Trade Receivables includes amounts due from the related parties ` 1.28 lakhs (as on March 31, 2018:  
` 12.52 lakhs; as on April 01, 2017: ` 0.99 lakhs) [Refer Note 34].
Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and are generally on terms of 30 to 90 days.

Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
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Notes to the Financial Statements as at 31 March 2019 (Continued)

(Currency: INR in Lakhs)
Trade receivable days past due Current 1-30 days 

past due
31-60 days 

past due
61-90 days 

past due
91-360 

days past 
due

More than 
360 days 
past due

Total

March 31, 
2019

Estimated total gross carrying amount at default 27.13 — — — — — 27.13
ECL- simplified approach — — — — — — —
Net carrying amount 27.13 — — — — — 27.13

March 31, 
2018

Estimated total gross carrying amount at default 35.84 — — — — — 35.84
ECL- simplified approach — — — — — — —
Net carrying amount 35.84 — — — — — 35.84

April 1, 
2017

Estimated total gross carrying amount at default 19.68 — — — — — 19.68
ECL- simplified approach — — — — — — —
Net carrying amount 19.68 — — — — — 19.68

There are no receivables for which there has been a significant increase in credit risk or which have become 
credit impaired.
No trade or other receivable is due from Directors or other officer of the company either severally or jointly 
with any other person. Nor any trade or other receivable is due from firm or private companies respectively in 
which any Director is a partner or Director or a member.

7.	 LOANS
(Currency: INR in Lakhs)

As at  
31 March 2019

As at  
31 March 2018

As at  
01 April 2017

LOANS AND ADVANCES (at Amortised Cost)
Term loans:
Individual loans 533,899.10 423,677.65 330,171.09
Total – Gross (A) 533,899.10 423,677.65 330,171.09
Less: Impairment loss allowance* [Refer Notes 37.1.2] 502.00 258.52 135.55
Total – Net (A) 533,397.10 423,419.13 330,035.54

(a) Secured by tangible assets 236,363.43 200,092.09 168,570.52
(b) Unsecured 297,535.67 223,585.56 161,600.57
Total – Gross (B) 533,899.10 423,677.65 330,171.09
Less: Impairment loss allowance* 502.00 258.52 135.55
Total – Net (B) 533,397.10 423,419.13 330,035.54

I.	 Loans in India
	 i)	 Public sector — — —
	 ii)	 Others
	 Education loans to individuals 533,899.10 423,677.65 330,171.09
Total (C) – Gross 533,899.10 423,677.65 330,171.09
Less: Impairment loss allowance* 502.00 258.52 135.55
Total (C) (I) – Net 533,397.10 423,419.13 330,035.54
II.	 Loans outside India — — —
Total (C) (I + II) 533,397.10 423,419.13 330,035.54
*	Impairment loss allowance does not include ` 29.89 lakhs (as on March 31, 2018: ` 8.79 lakhs, as on 01 

April, 2017: ` 6.43 lakhs) towards loan commitments.
During the current and prior reporting periods, there was no change in the business model under which the 
Company holds financial assets and therefore no reclassifications were made.
Loans granted by the Company aggregating to ` 2,36,363.43 lakhs (as on March 31, 2018: ` 2,00,092.09 
lakhs, as on 01 April, 2017: ` 1,68,570.52 lakhs) are secured or partly secured by one or a combination of 
the following securities:
(a)	 Immovable property	 (b)	 Fixed deposit	 (c)	 Insurance policy
` 4,10,774.09 lakhs (as on March 31, 2018: ` 3,10,934.78 lakhs; as on 01 April, 2017: ` 2,69,035.07 lakhs) 
amount of loans are given as collateral against secured borrowing from Banks and non-convertible debentures.
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8.	 OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS
(Currency: INR in Lakhs)

As at  
31 March 2019

As at  
31 March 2018

As at  
01 April 2017

Security Deposits - unsecured; considered good
—	 Related party 2.00 2.00 2.00
—	 Others 212.53 144.33 121.69
Other loan & advances - advances to employees 21.00 25.07 15.29
Total 235.53 171.40 138.98

9.	 CURRENT TAX ASSETS (NET) 
	 See Accounting Policy in Note No. 3.10

(Currency: INR in Lakhs)
As at  

31 March 2019
As at  

31 March 2018
As at  

01 April 2017

Advance tax (net of provision) 60.44 68.16 6.76
Total 60.44 68.16 6.76

10.	 DEFERRED TAX ASSETS (NET)
	 See Accounting Policy in Note No. 3.10
	 The major components of deferred tax assets and liabilities are:

(Currency: INR in Lakhs)

Particulars As at 31 March 2019 As at 31 March 2018 As at 01 April 2017
Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities

Depreciation (4.00) 6.00 8.00
Application of effective interest rate on financial assets 1,036.00 962.00 826.00
Application of effective interest rate on financial liabilities 100.00 97.00 76.00
Impairment allowance for financial assets 163.00 83.00 41.00
Provisions for employee benefits 90.00 73.00 51.00
Total 1,289.00 96.00 1,118.00 103.00 918.00 84.00
Net deferred tax asset 1,193.00 1,015.00 834.00

In compliance with the Indian Accounting Standard (Ind AS) 12 relating to ‘Accounting for Taxes on Income’, 
the Company has recognised ` 172.88 lakh (2017 - 18 : ` 181.09 lakh) in the Statement of Profit and Loss 
and ` -5.12 lakh (2017 - 18 : ` 0.09 lakh) in other comprehensive income for the year ended March 31, 2019 
towards deferred tax asset (net) for the year, arising on account of deductible temporary differences.

10.1	 Movements in deferred tax assets
Particulars Depreciation Application of 

effective interest 
rate on financial 

assets

Application of 
effective interest 
rate on financial 

liabilities

Impairment 
allowance for 

financial assets

Provision for 
employee 
benefits

Total

As at 01 April 2017 (8.00) 826.00 (76.00) 41.00 51.00 834.00
Credited/(charged)
—	 to profit or loss 2.00 136.00 (21.00) 42.00 22.00 181.00
As at 31 March 2018 (6.00) 962.00 (97.00) 83.00 73.00 1,015.00
Credited/(charged)
—	 to profit or loss 10.00 74.00 (3.00) 80.00 17.00 178.00
As at 31 March 2019 4.00 1,036.00 (100.00) 163.00 90.00 1,193.00
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11.	 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT & INTANGIBLE ASSETS
	 See Accounting Policy in Note No. 3.5 & 3.6

The changes in the carrying value of property, plant and equipment & intangible assets for the year ended 
31 March 2019 are as follows:

(Currency: INR in Lakhs)

Particulars

Gross Block Accumulated depreciation/amortisation Net Block

As at 
1 April, 
2018

Additions 
during  

the year

Deletions/
Write-off 
during  

the year

As at 
31 March, 

2019

As at 
1 April, 
2018

For  
the year

Deletions/
Write-off 
during  

the year

As at 
31 March, 

2019

As at 
31 March, 

2019

As at 
31 March, 

2018

A. Tangible assets:

Office equipment 76.00 12.34 6.17 82.17 11.81 18.51 5.45 24.87 57.30 64.19

Computers 117.27 10.66 10.67 117.26 28.51 38.54 10.52 56.53 60.72 88.76

Furniture & fixtures 81.28 11.08 2.56 89.80 7.74 10.84 2.04 16.54 73.26 73.54

Sub-total (A) 274.55 34.08 19.40 289.23 48.06 67.89 18.01 97.94 191.29 226.49

B. Intangible assets:

Other software 61.74 20.25 — 81.99 3.94 21.10 — 25.04 56.95 57.80

Sub-total (B) 61.74 20.25 — 81.99 3.94 21.10 — 25.04 56.95 57.80

C. Capital work in progress (C) — — — — — — — — — —

D. Intangible assets under 
development (D) 2.00 — 2.00 — — — — — — 2.00

Total (A + B + C + D) 338.29 54.33 21.40 371.22 52.00 88.99 18.01 122.98 248.24 286.29

The changes in the carrying value of property, plant and equipment & intangible assets for the year ended 
31 March 2018 are as follows:

(Currency: INR in Lakhs)

Particulars

Gross Block Accumulated depreciation/amortisation Net Block

As at 
1 April, 
2017

Additions 
during  

the year

Deletions/
Write-off 
during  

the year

As at 
31 March, 

2018

As at 
1 April, 
2017

For  
the year

Deletions/
Write-off 
during  

the year

As at 
31 March, 

2018

As at 
31 March, 

2018

As at 
1 April, 
2017

A. Tangible assets:

Office equipment 41.82 36.14 1.96 76.00 — 13.75 1.94 11.81 64.19 41.82

Computers 76.93 47.44 7.10 117.27 — 35.55 7.04 28.51 88.76 76.93

Furniture & fixtures 66.45 18.01 3.18 81.28 — 10.47 2.73 7.74 73.54 66.45

Sub-total (A) 185.20 101.59 12.24 274.55 — 59.77 11.71 48.06 226.49 185.20

B. Intangible assets:

Other software 11.53 50.21 — 61.74 — 3.94 — 3.94 57.80 11.53

Sub-total (B) 11.53 50.21 — 61.74 — 3.94 — 3.94 57.80 11.53

C. Capital work in progress (C) 3.82 — 3.82 — — — — — — 3.82

D. Intangible assets under 
development (D) — 2.00 — 2.00 — — — — 2.00 —

Total (A + B + C + D) 200.55 153.80 16.06 338.29 — 63.71 11.71 52.00 286.29 200.55
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12.	 OTHER NON FINANCIAL ASSETS
(Currency: INR in Lakhs)

As at  
31 March 2019

As at  
31 March 2018

As at  
01 April 2017

Prepaid expenses 39.08 49.62 23.81

Statutory dues 68.40 76.65 8.42

Others* 10.04 7.48 7.02

117.52 133.74 39.26

*	Others includes ` 0.51 lakhs (as on 31 March 2018 ` 0.34 lakhs; as on 31 March 2017 ` 0.22 lakhs) due 
to related parties [Refer Note 34].

13.	 TRADE PAYABLES
(Currency: INR in Lakhs)

As at  
31 March 2019

As at  
31 March 2018

As at  
01 April 2017

Total outstanding dues of micro enterprises and small 
enterprises — — —

Total outstanding dues of creditors other than micro 
enterprises and small enterprises

—	 Payable to vendors * 273.49 269.91 82.70

—	 Accrued expenses 744.90 603.74 599.69

Total 1,018.39 873.65 682.39
Payable to vendors includes ` Nil (as on 31 March 2018 ` Nil; as on 31 March 2017 ` Nil) payable to 
suppliers covered under the Micro, Small and Medium Enterprises Development Act, 2006 (“MSMED”). The 
information as required to be disclosed under the Micro, Small and Medium Enterprises Development Act, 
2006 has been determined to the extent such parties have been identified on the basis of Information 
available with the Company. The amount of principal and interest outstanding during the year is given below.

(Currency: INR in Lakhs)
As at  

31 March 2019
As at  

31 March 2018
As at  

01 April 2017
(a)	 Amount outstanding but not due as at year end — — —
(b)	 Amount due but unpaid as at the year end — — —
(c)	 Amounts paid after appointed date during the year — — —
(d)	 Amount of interest accrued and unpaid as at year end — — —
(e)	 The amount of further interest due and payable even 

in the succeeding year — — —
— — —

*	Trade Payables includes ` 11.56 lakh (as on 31 March 2018 ` Nil; as on 31 March 2017 ` Nil) due to 
related parties [Refer Note 34].
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14.	 DEBT SECURITIES - AT AMORTISED COST
	 See Accounting Policy in Note No. 3.2

(Currency: INR in Lakhs)
Particulars As at  

31 March 2019
As at  

31 March 2018
As at  

01 April 2017

Secured non convertible debentures [Refer Note 14.1] 149,872.36 129,842.86 109,859.44
Commercial Paper [Refer Note 14.2] 56,476.01 51,860.43 27,201.42
Total (A) 206,348.37 181,703.29 137,060.86
Debt securities in India 206,348.37 181,703.29 137,060.86
Debt securities outside India — — — 
Total (B) to tally with (A) 206,348.37 181,703.29 137,060.86

	 Terms of repayment, nature of security & rate of interest in case of debt securities:

14.1	 Secured non convertible debentures
	 Nature of Security: Pari-passu charge on education loan receivables
	 Terms of Repayment: Bullet repayment on maturity date.

(Currency: INR in Lakhs)
Name of Security Maturity  

Date
As at 31  

March 2019
As at 31  

March 2018
As at 01  

April 2017

8.99% Secured non-convertible debentures 07/08/2017 — — 19,993.32
9.00% Secured non-convertible debentures 26/02/2019 — 19,989.95 19,975.58
7.65% Secured non-convertible debentures 26/03/2019 — 19,981.93 —
9.00% Secured non-convertible debentures 28/06/2019 19,997.34 19,986.67 19,976.88
7.50% Secured non-convertible debentures 07/08/2019 19,995.22 19,982.05 —
8.25% Secured non-convertible debentures 25/11/2021 29,951.31 29,930.78 29,946.34
8.00% Secured non-convertible debentures 25/02/2022 19,975.99 19,971.48 19,967.32
9.00% Secured non-convertible debentures 24/09/2020 29,977.36 — —
9.40% Secured non-convertible debentures 20/11/2020 29,975.14 — —
Total 149,872.36 129,842.86 109,859.44
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14.2	 Commercial paper
	 Nature of Security: Unsecured
	 Terms of Repayment: Bullet repayment on maturity date.

(Currency: INR in Lakhs)

Name of security Maturity  
Date

As at  
31 March 2019

As at  
31 March 2018

As at  
01 April 2017

7.245% Commercial paper 13/04/2017 — — 7,482.45
6.90% Commercial paper 02/06/2017 — — 9,886.61
7.20% Commercial paper 28/06/2017 — — 9,832.36
7.93% Commercial paper 04/05/2018 — 9,929.23 —
7.95% Commercial paper 25/05/2018 — 14,826.89 —
7.95% Commercial paper 25/05/2018 — 4,942.30 —
7.85% Commercial paper 08/06/2018 — 9,856.23 —
7.92% Commercial paper 13/06/2018 — 12,305.79 —
7.90% Commercial paper 24/04/2019 9,951.17 — —
7.80% Commercial paper 15/05/2019 24,769.32 — —
9.34% Commercial paper 16/08/2019 9,672.01 — —
9.25% Commercial paper 27/11/2019 2,832.49 — —
8.55% Commercial paper 13/03/2020 9,251.02 — —
Total 56,476.01 51,860.43 27,201.42

During the year, the Company raised ` 60,000 lakhs (F.Y. 2017-18 ` 40,000 lakhs) through issue of Long 
Term, Secured, Non Convertible Debentures. All these Non Convertible Debentures are secured by pari 
passu charge by way of hypothecation of education loan receivables of the Company’s underlying portfolio 
of education loans.

15.	 BORROWINGS (OTHER THAN DEBT SECURITIES) — AT AMORTISED COST
	 See Accounting Policy in Note No. 3.2

(Currency: INR in Lakhs)

Particulars As at  
31 March 2019

As at  
31 March 2018

As at  
01 April 2017

Secured

Term Loans from Banks [Refer note 15.1] 199,143.77 152,847.15 132,766.79

Loans repayable on demand from banks 23,500.61 — —

Total (A) 222,644.38 152,847.15 132,766.79

Borrowings in India 222,644.38 152,847.15 132,766.79

Borrowings outside India — — —

Total (B) to tally with (A) 222,644.38 152,847.15 132,766.79
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	 Terms of repayment, nature of security & rate of interest in case of borrowings (other than debt securities):
15.1	 Term Loans from Banks
	 Nature of Security: Pari-passu charge on education loan receivables
	 Terms of Repayment: As per repayment schedule	 (Currency: INR in Lakhs)

Name of Security Terms of repayment As at  
31 March 

2019

As at  
31 March 

2018

As at  
01 April  

2017

Rupee term loan 
secured by pari-
passu charge on 
education loan 

receivables

28 quarterly instalments commencing from Dec 2016 7,598.53 9,348.35 11,098.34

28 quarterly instalments commencing from Oct 2016 — — 8,997.63

20 quarterly instalments commencing from April 2016 — 5,999.99 7,999.86

20 quarterly instalments commencing from June 2017 — 7,999.95 9,999.23

28 quarterly instalments commencing from December 2014 7,137.83 9,996.69 12,856.00

28 quarterly instalments commencing from December 2015 4,999.60 6,428.30 7,857.07

28 quarterly instalments commencing from July 2016 6,070.52 7,498.02 8,926.45

28 quarterly instalments commencing from June 2017 21,421.49 25,708.65 27,295.76

23 quarterly instalments commencing from December 2016 5,652.17 7,391.30 9,130.43

18 quarterly instalments commencing from October 2017 10,000.00 13,333.33 5,000.00

28 quarterly instalments commencing from January 2017 — — 16,106.00

20 quarterly instalments commencing from March 2013 — — 2,250.00

20 quarterly instalments commencing from March 2014 — 2,250.00 5,250.00

18 quarterly instalments commencing from June 2018 19,444.44 25,000.00 —

28 quarterly instalments commencing from August 2019 9,998.68 9,998.82 —

28 quarterly instalments commencing from March 2020 9,998.54 7,593.73 —

28 quarterly instalments commencing from December 2019 19,995.40 4,300.00 —

11 quarterly instalments commencing from April 2018 6,363.64 10,000.00 —

3 annual instalments commencing from March 2020 3,800.00 — —

28 quarterly instalments commencing from January 2021 2,592.81 — —

12 quarterly instalments commencing from December 2019 9,921.37 — —

20 quarterly instalments commencing from April 2020 9,996.06 — —

12 quarterly instalments commencing from October 2019 9,991.89 — —

12 quarterly instalments commencing from March 2020 9,995.01 — —

28 quarterly instalments commencing from June 2020 19,999.11 — —

12 quarterly instalments commencing from November 2018 4,166.67 — —

Total 199,143.77 152,847.15 132,766.79

There is no borrowings measured at FVTPL or designated at FVTPL.

Security for Bank overdrafts is pari-passu charge against the education loan receivables.

The borrowings have not been guaranteed by directors or others. Also there is no default in repayment of 
borrowing and interest on bank term loans and Bank overdrafts.
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16.	 SUBORDINATED LIABILITIES — AT AMORTISED COST
	 See Accounting Policy in Note No. 3.2

(Currency: INR in Lakhs)

Particulars As at  
31 March 2019

As at  
31 March 2018

As at  
01 April 2017

Subordinated tier II non convertible debentures  
[Refer Note 16.1] 19,950.06 19,945.51 9,972.15

Perpetual debt instruments to the extent that do not 
qualify as equity [Refer Note 16.1] 27,426.71 19,943.26 14,960.74

Total (A) 47,376.77 39,888.77 24,932.89

Subordinated liabilities in India 47,376.77 39,888.77 24,932.89

Subordinated liabilities outside India — — —

Total (B) to tally with (A) 47,376.77 39,888.77 24,932.89

16.1	 Terms of repayment, nature of security & rate of interest in case of subordinated liabilities
	 Nature of Security: Unsecured
	 Terms of Repayment: Bullet repayment on maturity date.

(Currency: INR in Lakhs)

Name of Security Maturity  
Date

As at  
31 March 2019

As at  
31 March 2018

As at  
01 April 2017

11.75% Perpetual debt instrument 09/07/2024* 4,989.71 4,987.93 4,986.09

10.50% Perpetual debt instrument 27/01/2025* 4,988.69 4,988.42 4,987.55

10.50% Perpetual debt instrument 17/06/2025* 4,988.97 4,987.06 4,987.10

9.30% Subordinated Tier II  
non convertible debenture 09/10/2025 9,978.00 9,975.59 9,972.15

8.20% Subordinated Tier II  
non convertible debenture 23/07/2027 4,986.14 4,985.10 —

8.10% Subordinated Tier II  
non convertible debenture 16/11/2027 4,985.92 4,984.82 —

8.75% Perpetual debt instrument 08/12/2027* 4,981.24 4,979.85 —

9.35% Perpetual debt instrument 06/06/2028* 7,478.09 — —

Total 47,376.77 39,888.77 24,932.89

During the year, the Company raised ` 7,500 lakhs (2017-18 ` 5,000 lakhs) through issue of perpetual debt 
instruments. ` 6,721 lakhs (previous year ` 4,717 lakhs) of perpetual debt instrument qualifies as Tier I 
capital under RBI guidelines.
The subordinated tier II non convertible debentures are subordinated to present and future senior indebtedness 
of the Company and qualify as Tier II capital under Reserve Bank of India guidelines for assessing capital 
adequacy. Based on balance term to maturity as on 31 March, 2019, 100% (previous year 100%) of the 
book value of the subordinated debt is considered as Tier II capital for the purpose of the capital adequacy 
computation.
* Call option
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17.	 OTHER FINANCIAL LIABILITIES
(Currency: INR in Lakhs)

As at  
31 March 2019

As at  
31 March 2018

As at  
01 April 2017

Interest accrued but not due on borrowing 8,381.70 5,484.78 5,126.18
Total 8,381.70 5,484.78 5,126.18

18.	 CURRENT TAX LIABILITIES (NET)
	 See accounting Policy in Note No. 3.10

(Currency: INR in Lakhs)

As at  
31 March 2019

As at  
31 March 2018

As at  
01 April 2017

Provision for income tax (Net of advance tax) 264.39 196.27 2.36
264.39 196.27 2.36

19.	 PROVISIONS
(Currency: INR in Lakhs)

As at  
31 March 2019

As at  
31 March 2018

As at  
01 April 2017

Provision for employee benefits
- Gratuity [Refer Note 29.2] 184.08 138.27 92.28
- Compensated absences [Refer Note 29.2] 74.71 66.24 53.47

258.79 204.51 145.75
Impairment allowance on undisbursed commitment 
[Refer Note 37.1.2] 29.89 8.78 6.43
Total 288.68 213.29 152.18

20.	 OTHER NON FINANCIAL LIABILITIES
(Currency: INR in Lakhs)

As at  
31 March 2019

As at  
31 March 2018

As at  
01 April 2017

Instalments on education loans received in advance 
(including interest received in advance)

228.36 336.34 426.94

Statutory remittances 116.75 119.36 34.77
Others (Stale Cheque) 2.25 1.47 1.30
Total 347.36 457.17 463.01
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21.	 SHARE CAPITAL
(Currency: INR in Lakhs)

As at  
31 March 2019

As at  
31 March 2018

As at  
01 April 2017

Authorised

8,80,00,000 (Previous year 7,00,00,000)  
Equity shares of ` 10 each [Refer Note 21.1 & 21.2] 8,800.00 7,000.00 7,000.00

6,70,00,000 (Previous year 8,50,00,000) Compulsorily 
convertible preference shares (“CCPS”) of `10 each 6,700.00 8,500.00 8,500.00

15,500.00 15,500.00 15,500.00

Issued, subscribed and fully paid up

6,90,20,786 (Previous year 6,45,26,403)  
Equity shares of ` 10 each 6,902.08 6,452.64 6,074.20

6,902.08 6,452.64 6,074.20

	 Note: compulsorily convertible preference shares are classified as other equity [Refer note no 22].

21.1	 Reconciliation of number of shares outstanding at the beginning and at the end of the reporting period:
Particulars As at 31 March 2019 As at 31 March 2018 As at 01 April 2017

Number ` in lakh Number ` in lakh Number ` in lakh

Equity shares

At the beginning of the year 6,45,26,403 6,452.64 6,07,42,003 6,074.20 5,37,42,003 5,374.20

Issued during the year 44,94,383 449.44 37,84,400 378.44 70,00,000 700.00

At the end of the year 6,90,20,786 6,902.08 6,45,26,403 6,452.64 6,07,42,003 6,074.20

0.01% Compulsorily convertible 
preference shares (“CCPS”)

At the beginning of the year 6,69,99,956 6,700.00 6,69,99,956 6,700.00 6,69,99,956 6,700.00

At the end of the year 6,69,99,956 6,700.00 6,69,99,956 6,700.00 6,69,99,956 6,700.00



1043

M1043 K1043

M1043 K1043

HDFC Credila Financial Services Private Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)

21.2	 Details of shareholders holding more than 5 percent shares in the Company are given below:
(Currency: INR in Lakhs)

Particulars As at 31 March 2019 As at 31 March 2018 As at 01 April 2017

Number % 
shareholding

Number % 
shareholding

Number % 
shareholding

Equity shares held by

Housing Development Finance 
Corporation Limited 5,75,50,786 83.38% 5,30,56,403 82.22% 4,92,72,003 81.12%

Mr. Anil Bohora 57,35,000 8.31% 57,35,000 8.89% 57,35,000 9.44%

Mr. Ajay Bohora 57,35,000 8.31% 57,35,000 8.89% 57,35,000 9.44%

Total 6,90,20,786 100% 6,45,26,403 100% 6,07,42,003 100.00%

0.01% Compulsorily convertible 
preference shares (“CCPS”) held by

Housing Development Finance 
Corporation Limited 6,69,99,956 100.00% 6,69,99,956 100.00% 6,69,99,956 100.00%

21.3	 Terms and rights attached to equity shares
The Company has only one class of equity shares having Par Value of ` 10 each. Each holder of equity share 
is entitled to one vote per share. The holders of equity shares are entitled to dividends, if any, proposed by 
the Board of Directors and approved by Shareholders at the Annual General Meeting.
In the event of liquidation of the Company, the holder of equity shares will be entitled to receive any of the 
remaining assets of the Company, after distribution of all preferential amounts. The distribution will be in 
proportion to the number of equity shares held by the Shareholders.
The Company has not allotted any share pursuant to contracts without payment being received in cash or as 
bonus shares nor has it bought back any shares during the preceding period of 5 financial years.

21.4	 The rights, preferences and restrictions attached to Preference Shares including restrictions on distribution 
of dividends and the repayment of capital and terms of conversion into Equity Shares

	 (a)	 Dividend terms:

		  Dividend per annum on compulsorily convertible preference shares shall be equivalent to 0.01 % on the 
subscription amount on a preferential basis, subject to the availability of distributable profits.

	 (b)	 Terms of conversion of compulsorily convertible preference shares:

		  49,99,995 compulsorily convertible preference shares- Round V (CCPS-V) of ` 10 each	  
CCPS-V of ` 10 each shall be converted into equity shares of face value of ` 10 each at a premium of  
` 3 each with a final conversion price of ` 13 each at any time at the option of the subscriber i.e. HDFC 
or at maturity which is 7 years from the date of issue i.e. 30 April, 2012, which was extended to May 10, 
2019 on mutual agreement.

		  99,99,990 compulsorily convertible preference shares- Round VI (CCPS-VI) of ` 10 each	  
CCPS-VI of ` 10 each shall be converted into equity shares of face value of ` 10 each at a premium of  
` 3 each with a final conversion price of ` 13 each at any time at the option of the subscriber i.e. HDFC 
or at maturity which is 7 years from the date of issue i.e. 6 July, 2012.

		  49,99,995 compulsorily convertible preference shares- Round VII (CCPS-VII) of ` 10 each	 
CCPS-VII of ` 10 each shall be converted into equity shares of face value of ` 10 each at a premium of  
` 3 each with a final conversion price of ` 13 each at any time at the option of the subscriber i.e. HDFC 
or at maturity which is 7 years from the date of issue i.e. 13 August, 2012.
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		  50,00,000 compulsorily convertible preference shares - Round VIII (CCPS-VIII) of ` 10 each	  
CCPS-VIII of ` 10 each shall be converted into equity shares of face value of ` 10 each at a premium of  
` 8 each with a final conversion price of ` 18 each at any time at the option of the subscriber i.e. HDFC 
or at maturity which is 7 years from the date of issue i.e. 30 August, 2013.

		  60,00,000 compulsorily convertible preference shares – Round I (CCPS-I) of ` 10 each	  
CCPS-I of ` 10 each shall be converted into equity shares at a price of ` 10 each at any time at the option 
of the subscriber i.e. HDFC or at maturity which is 7 years from the date of conversion of OCPS in to CCPS 
i.e. 2 September, 2013.

	 	 90,00,000 compulsorily convertible preference shares – Round II (CCPS-II) of ` 10 each	  
CCPS-II of ` 10 each shall be converted into equity shares at price of ` 10 each at any time at the option 
of the subscriber i.e. HDFC or at maturity which is 7 years from the date of conversion of OCPS in to CCPS 
i.e. 2 September, 2013.

		  1,49,99,992 compulsorily convertible preference shares- Round III (CCPS-III) of ` 10 each	  
CCPS-III of ` 10 each shall be converted into equity shares of face value of ` 10 each at a premium of 
` 2 each with a final conversion price of ` 12 each at any time at the option of the subscriber i.e. HDFC 
or at maturity which is 7 years from the date of conversion of OCPS in to CCPS i.e. 2 September, 2013.

		  99,99,984 compulsorily convertible preference shares- Round IV (CCPS-IV) of ` 10 each	  
49,99,992 CCPS-IV of ` 10 each shall be converted into equity shares of face value of ` 10 each at a 
premium of ` 2 each with a final conversion price of ` 12 each at any time at the option of the subscriber 
i.e. HDFC or at maturity which is 7 years from the date of issue i.e. 27 February, 2012, which was 
extended to May 10, 2019 on mutual agreement. The balance 49,99,992 CCPS-IV of ` 10 each shall be 
converted into equity shares of face value of ` 10 each at a premium of ` 2 each with a final conversion 
price of ` 12 each at any time at the option of the subscriber i.e. HDFC or at maturity which is 7 years 
from the date of conversion of OCPS into CCPS i.e. 2 September, 2013.

		  20,00,000 compulsorily convertible preference shares- Round IX (CCPS-IX) of ` 10 each	  
CCPS-IX of ` 10 each shall be converted into equity shares of face value of ` 10 each at a premium of  
` 10 each with a final conversion price of ` 20 each at any time at the option of the subscriber i.e. HDFC 
or at maturity which is 7 years from the date of issue i.e. 28 March, 2014.

22.	 OTHER EQUITY
(Currency: INR in Lakhs)

As at  
31 March 2019

As at  
31 March 2018

As at  
01 April 2017

Non cumulative compulsorily convertible preference 
shares (6,69,99,956 Shares of ` 10 each fully paid up) 6,700.00 6,700.00 6,700.00
Capital reserve 109.46 109.46 109.46
Securities premium 17,839.25 10,296.59 5,680.04
Statutory reserve 7,106.94 5,073.09 3,331.59
Retained earnings 24,397.96 16,263.38 9,348.15
Employee benefit expenses through other 
comprehensive income (9.42) 0.12 —
Total 56,144.19 38,442.64 25,169.24
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22.1	 Nature of reserves
	 Capital reserve: During transition to Ind AS, NCD issue cost to the extent adjusted to securities premium in 

earlier years is transferred to capital reserve.
	 Securities premium reserve: Securities premium reserve is credited when shares are issued at premium.  

It can be used to issue bonus shares, to provide for premium on redemption of redeemable preference 
shares or debentures, write-off of expenses on issue of equity shares, etc.

	 Statutory reserve: It has been created in terms of Section 45-IC (1) of The Reserve Bank of India Act, 1931 
(the “RBI Act”) and the Company transfers at least 20% of its net profits every year to this reserve before any 
dividend is declared.

	 Retained earnings: Retained earnings are the profits that the Company has earned till date, less any transfers 
to statutory reserve and dividends paid to investors.

	 Employee benefit expenses through other comprehensive income: It represents the gain/(loss) on account 
of actuarial valuation of defined benefit obligation.

23.	 INTEREST INCOME
	 See Accounting Policy in Note No. 3.1.1

Particulars For the year ended  
31 March 2019

On Financial Assets 
measured at  

Amortised Cost

For the year ended  
31 March 2018

On Financial Assets 
measured at  

Amortised Cost

Interest
—	 Interest on education loans 58,475.45 47,432.93
—	 Interest on fixed deposits with banks 630.15 10.07
Total 59,105.60 47,443.00

24.	 FEES AND COMMISSION INCOME
	 See Accounting Policy in Note Nos. 3.1.2, 3.1.3 & 3.1.4

For the year ended  
31 March 2019

For the year ended  
31 March 2018

Commission [Refer Note 34.2] 1,054.21 897.90
Other Fees 48.27 123.36
Total 1,102.48 1,021.26

25.	 FINANCE COSTS
	 See Accounting Policy in Note No. 3.13

Particulars For the year ended  
31 March 2019

On Financial Liabilities 
measured at  

Amortised Cost

For the year ended  
31 March 2018

On Financial Liabilities 
measured at  

Amortised Cost

Interest on
—	 Debt securities 17,382.14 14,168.11
—	 Borrowing (other than debt securities) 15,449.31 10,948.56
—	 Subordinated liabilities 4,392.34 3,136.25
Other charges 158.98 131.07
Total 37,382.77 28,383.99



1046

M1046 K1046

M1046 K1046

Fourteenth Annual Report 2018-19

Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)

26.	 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES
	 See Accounting Policy in Note No. 3.8

(Currency: INR in Lakhs)

Particulars For the year ended  
31 March 2019

For the year ended  
31 March 2018

Salaries and bonus [Refer Note 34.2] 2,708.82 2,377.21
Contribution to provident fund 97.01 90.89
Gratuity [Refer Note 29.2] 43.15 58.19
Compensated absences [Refer Note 29.2] 10.45 14.72
Staff welfare expenses [Refer Note 34.2] 83.19 78.84
Total 2,942.62 2,619.85

27.	 OTHER EXPENSES
(Currency: INR in Lakhs)

For the year ended  
31 March 2019

For the year ended  
31 March 2018

Electricity expenses 43.41 41.14

Rent [Refer Note 27.1] 264.53 244.29

Repairs and maintenance 71.26 58.66

Computer expenses [Refer Note 27.4] 165.12 137.86

Corporate social responsibility expenses [Refer Note 27.3] 202.87 139.37

Rates and taxes 42.94 38.28

Travelling and conveyance 113.80 118.10

Communication costs 102.37 120.01

Advertisement and publicity [Refer Note 27.4] 342.32 256.86

Outsourcing charges 1,688.24 1,634.36

Legal and professional charges [Refer Note 27.4] 482.52 448.99

Loss on property, plant and equipment discarded 1.38 0.30

Auditor’s fees and expenses [Refer Note 27.2] 42.17 23.08

Directors’ insurance [Refer Note 34.2] 1.05 1.04

Directors’ fees [Refer Note 34.2] 17.40 20.90

Interest on delayed payment of statutory dues — 58.08

Printing and stationery 40.11 36.23

Other expenditure 355.34 340.90

Total 3,976.84 3,718.44
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27.1	 Rent expenses

In accordance with the Indian Accounting Standard 17 - “Leases” the Company has entered into operating 
lease arrangements for office premises. Certain leases are cancellable after completion of the notice period 
of 1 month to 3 months and are for a period of 2 to 3 years and may be renewed for a further period of 11 
months to 3 years based on mutual agreement of both the parties. The lease agreements provide for an 
increase in the lease payments by 5% to 10% every year or 15% after every 3 years.

(Currency: INR in Lakhs)

Period For the year ended  
31 March 2019

For the year ended  
31 March 2018

Lease payments recognised in the Statement of Profit and Loss 232.93 216.04
The total of future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable 
operating leases for each of the following periods:
Not later than one year 58.45 83.23
Later than one year but not later than five years 103.74 158.14

27.2	 Payments to auditors
(Currency: INR in Lakhs)

Particulars For the year ended  
31 March 2019

For the year ended  
31 March 2018

Audit fees 13.00 10.00

ICFR fees 3.00 3.00

Limited reviews 9.00 5.00

Other matters and certification 12.75 4.13

Reimbursement of expenses 4.42 0.95

Total 42.17 23.08
	 Auditors’ remuneration above is excluding Goods and Service Tax.

27.3	 Expenditure incurred for corporate social responsibility

	 (a)	 Gross amount required to be spent by the Company during the year is ` 202.87 lakhs (for 2017-18:  
` 139.37 lakhs)

	 (b)	 The details of amounts spent towards CSR are as under:

	 	 During the year 2018-19	 (Currency: INR in Lakhs)

Particulars In cash Yet to be paid Total

(a)	 Construction/acquisition of any asset — — —

(b)	 On purposes other than (a) above 202.87 — 202.87

		  During the year 2017-18
Particulars In cash Yet to be paid Total

(a)	 Construction/acquisition of any asset — — —

(b)	 On purposes other than (a) above 139.37 — 139.37
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27.4	 Expenditure in foreign currency	 (Currency: INR in Lakhs)

Particulars For the year ended  
31 March 2019

For the year ended  
31 March 2018

Legal and professional charges 6.83 12.62

Advertisement and publicity 115.27 97.57

Computer expenses 13.74 16.93

Communication costs — 0.20

Travelling and conveyance 0.69 —

Other expenses — 0.10

28.	 IMPAIRMENT ON FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
	 See Accounting Policy in Note No. 3.2.5

The below table show impairment loss on financial instruments charge to statement of profit and loss based 
on category of financial instrument.

(Currency: INR in Lakhs)

Particulars For the year ended  
31 March 2019

For the year ended  
31 March 2018

On Financial instruments measured at Amortised Cost
Loans 243.49 122.96
Loans written off 6.17 9.43
Loan commitments 21.10 2.35
Total 270.76 134.74

The table below shows the ECL charges on financial instruments for the year recorded in the profit and loss 
based on evaluation stage:

(Currency: INR in Lakhs)

Particulars 2018-19 2017-18

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

Loans and advances to 
customers 196.75 9.15 37.60 243.49 36.60 87.53 (1.17) 122.96

Loans written off — — 6.17 6.17 — — 9.43 9.43

Loan commitments 21.04 0.06 — 21.10 2.24 0.12 — 2.35

Total impairment loss 217.79 9.21 43.77 270.76 38.84 87.65 8.26 134.74

29.	 Employee benefit expenses
	 See Accounting Policy in Note No. 3.8

As required by Indian Accounting Standard 19 — “Employee Benefits”, the following disclosures have been made:

	 1.	 Defined contribution plans
		  The Company makes provident fund and employee state insurance scheme contributions which are 

defined contribution plans, for qualifying employees. Under the schemes, the Company is required to 
contribute a specified percentage of the payroll costs to fund the benefits. The Company recognised  
` 97.01 lakhs (previous year ̀  90.89 lakhs) for provident fund contributions and ̀  Nil (previous year ̀  Nil) 
for employee state insurance scheme contributions in the Statement of Profit and Loss. The contributions 
payable to these plans by the Company are at rates specified in the rules of the schemes.
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29.	 Employee benefit expenses (Continued)
	 2.	Defined benefit plan
		  The Company has an obligation towards gratuity, a funded defined benefit plan covering certain eligible 

employees. The plan provides for lump sum payment to vested employees at retirement, death while in 
employment or on termination of the employment of an amount equivalent to 15 days salary payable for 
each completed year of service or part thereof in excess of six months subject to a limit of ` 20 lakhs. 
Vesting occurs upon completion of five year of service.

		  Details of Company’s funded post-retirement benefit plans for its employees are given below which is as 
certified by the actuary:

		  (a)	 Characteristics of the defined benefit plan -
			   The benefits are governed by the Payment of Gratuity Act, 1972 or company scheme rules, whichever 

is higher. The key features are as under:
			   Plan features -
			   Benefits offered -15/26 × salary × duration of service
			   Salary definition -Basic salary including dearness allowance (if any)
			   Benefit ceiling - Benefit ceiling of ` 20 lakhs was applied
			   Vesting conditions - 5 years of continuous service (not applicable in case of death/disability)
			   Benefit eligibility - upon death or resignation/withdrawal or retirement
			   Retirement age - 58 years

		  (b)	 Risks associated with defined benefit plan -
			   i)	 Actuarial risk:
				    It is the risk that benefits will cost more than expected. This can arise due to one of the following 

reasons:
				    Adverse salary growth experience: Salary hikes that are higher than the assumed salary 

escalation will result into an increase in obligation at a rate that is higher than expected.
				    Variability in mortality rates: If actual mortality rates are higher than assumed mortality rate 

assumption than the gratuity benefits will be paid earlier than expected. Since there is no 
condition of vesting on the death benefit, the acceleration of cashflow will lead to an actuarial 
loss or gain depending on the relative values of the assumed salary growth and discount rate.

				    Variability in withdrawal rates: If actual withdrawal rates are higher than assumed withdrawal 
rate assumption then the gratuity benefits will be paid earlier than expected. The impact of this 
will depend on whether the benefits are vested as at the resignation date.

			   ii)	 Investment risk:
				    For funded plans that rely on insurers for managing the assets, the value of assets certified 

by the insurer may not be the fair value of instruments backing the liability. In such cases, the 
present value of the assets is independent of the future discount rate. This can result in wide 
fluctuations in the net liability or the funded status if there are significant changes in the discount 
rate during the inter-valuation period.

			   iii)	 Liquidity risk:
				    Employees with high salaries and long durations or those higher in hierarchy, accumulate 

significant level of benefits. If some of such employees resign/retire from the Company there can 
be strain on the cashflows of the plan.
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29.	 Employee benefit expenses (Continued)
			   iv)	 Market risk:
				    Market risk is a collective term for risks that are related to the changes and fluctuations of the 

financial markets. One actuarial assumption that has a material effect is the discount rate. The 
discount rate reflects the time value of money. An increase in discount rate leads to decrease 
in defined benefit obligation of the plan benefits & vice versa. This assumption depends on the 
yields on the corporate/government bonds and hence the valuation of liability is exposed to 
fluctuations in the yields as at the valuation date.

			   v)	 Legislative risk:
				    Legislative risk is the risk of increase in the plan liabilities or reduction in the plan assets due to 

change in the legislation/regulation. The government may amend the Payment of Gratuity Act 
thus requiring the companies to pay higher benefits to the employees. This will directly affect 
the present value of the defined benefit obligation and the same will have to be recognised 
immediately in the year when any such amendment is effective.

		  (c)	 Details of Company’s funded post-retirement benefit plans for its employees are given below which 
is as certified by the actuary :

				    (Currency: INR in Lakhs)

I	 Components of employer 
expense:

Compensated absences Gratuity
2018-19 

`
2017-18

`
2018-19 

`
2017-18 

`

1.	 Current service cost 20.29 17.48 33.79 27.70
2.	 Interest cost 4.97 3.86 13.44 8.82
3.	 Expected return on plan assets — — (4.08) (3.02)
4.	 Actuarial loss/(gain) (14.81) (6.62) — —
5.	 Losses/(gains) on curtailments 

& settlement — — — 24.69
6.	 Total expense recognised in the 

statement of profit and loss 10.45 14.72 43.15 58.19

				    	 (Currency: INR in Lakhs)

II	 Net liability recognised in the 
balance sheet:

Compensated absences Gratuity
2018-19 

`
2017-18

`
2018-19 

`
2017-18 

`

1.	 Present value of defined benefit 
obligation 74.71 66.24 219.08 177.13

2.	 Fair value of plan assets — — 35.00 38.86
3.	 Unrecognised past service cost — —
4.	 Net liability recognised in the 

balance sheet 74.71 66.24 184.08 138.27
	 — Short-term provisions 9.46 3.39 31.19 33.65
	 — Long-term provisions 65.26 62.85 152.89 104.62
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)

29.	 Employee benefit expenses (Continued)

	 (Currency: INR in Lakhs)

III	 Changes in defined benefit 
obligation:

Compensated absences Gratuity
2018-19 

`
2017-18

`
2018-19 

`
2017-18 

`

1.	 Present value of defined benefit 
obligation as at the beginning 
of the year 66.23 53.47 177.27 122.53

2.	 Current service cost 20.27 17.48 33.65 27.84
3.	 Interest cost 4.97 3.86 13.43 8.82
4.	 Actuarial loss/(gain) (14.81) (6.62) 13.88 (0.76)
5.	 Prior year charges 0.02 — — 24.55
6.	 Benefits paid (1.97) (1.95) (19.15) (5.85)
7.	 Present value of defined benefit 

obligation as at the end of the year 74.71 66.24 219.08 177.13

				    (Currency: INR in Lakhs)

IV	 Reconciliation of Liability: Compensated absences Gratuity
2018-19 

`
2017-18

`
2018-19 

`
2017-18 

`

1.	 Opening net liability 66.24 53.47 138.27 92.28
2.	 Expenses recognised 10.45 14.72 43.15 58.19
3.	 Other comprehensive income — — 14.66 (0.20)
4.	 Benefits paid (1.98) (1.95) — (1.53)
5.	 Contribution to plan assets — — (12.00) (10.47)
6.	 Amount recognised in the 

balance sheet under provision 
for employee benefits 74.71 66.24 184.08 138.27

	 — Short-term provisions 9.46 3.39 31.19 33.65
	 — Long-term provisions 65.25 62.85 152.89 104.62

				    		  (Currency: INR in Lakhs)

V	 Reconciliation of Plan Assets: Compensated absences Gratuity
2018-19 

`
2017-18

`
2018-19 

`
2017-18 

`

1.	 Opening value of plan assets — — 38.86 30.24
2.	 Expenses incurred in the fund — — — —
3.	 Expected return — — 4.08 3.02
4.	 Actuarial gains and (losses) — — (0.78) (0.55)
5.	 Contribution by employer — — 12.00 10.47
6.	 Benefits paid — — (19.16) (4.32)
7.	 Closing value of plan assets — — 35.00 38.86
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)

29.	 Employee benefit expenses (Continued)				    (Currency: INR in Lakhs)

VI	 Actual return on Plan Assets: Compensated absences Gratuity
2018-19 

`
2017-18

`
2018-19 

`
2017-18 

`

1.	 Expected return on plan assets — — 4.08 3.02
2.	 Actuarial gain on plan assets — — (0.78) (0.55)
3.	 Actual return on plan assets — — — —

			   	
VII	Actuarial assumptions: Compensated absences Gratuity

2018-19 
`

2017-18
`

2018-19 
`

2017-18 
`

1.	 Discount rate 7.60% 7.70% 7.60% 7.70%
2.	 Return on plan assets NA —
3.	 Attrition rate 7% – 30% 1% – 5% 7% – 30% 1% – 5%
4.	 Salary escalation rate 7.00% 7.00% 7.00% 7.00%
5.	 Mortality rate Indian Assured Lives 

Mortality (2006-08) Ult.
Indian Assured Lives 

Mortality (2006-08) Ult.

				    VIII	 Sensitivity analysis for actuarial assumptions:
				    	 Sensitivity to key assumptions

(Currency: INR in Lakhs)
Particulars 31-Mar-2019  

(12 months)
31-Mar-2018  
(12 months)

Discount rate sensitivity
Increase by 0.5% 211.13 167.05
(% change) –3.63% –5.77%
Decrease by 0.5% 227.59 188.44
(% change) 3.88% 6.30%

Salary growth rate sensitivity
Increase by 0.5% 225.15 186.90
(% change) 2.77% 5.43%
Decrease by 0.5% 213.25 168.35
(% change) –2.66% –5.03%

Withdrawal rate (W.R.) Sensitivity
W.R. x 110% 219.69 177.63
(% change) 0.28% 0.20%
W.R. x 90% 218.21 176.86
(% change) –0.40% –0.23%

					     A description of methods used for sensitivity analysis and its limitations:
					     Sensitivity analysis is performed by varying a single parameter while keeping all the other 

parameters unchanged.
					     Sensitivity analysis fails to focus on the interrelationship between underlying parameters. 

Hence, the results may vary if two or more variables are changed simultaneously.
					     The method used does not indicate anything about the likelihood of change in any parameter 

and the extent of the change if any.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)

29.	 Employee benefit expenses (Continued)
			   	 IX	 The assumption of the future salary increases, considered in actuarial valuation, takes into 

account the inflation, seniority, promotion and other relevant factors, such as supply and 
demand in the employment market. The discount rate is based on the prevailing market 
yields of Government of India securities as at the balance sheet date for the estimated term 
of the obligations.

				    X	 Experience adjustments
					     (a)  Compensated Absenses	 (Currency: INR in Lakhs)

Particulars Compensated Absences

2018-19 2017-18 2016-17 2015-16 2014-15

1.	 Present value of defined 
benefit obligation 74.71 66.24 53.47 25.26 17.64

2.	 Present value of defined 
benefit assets — — — — —

3.	 Experience adjustment 
on plan liabilities (14.44) (7.66) 13.12 (4.58) (7.59)

4.	 Experience adjustment 
on plan assets — — — — —

5.	 Unrecognised past 
service cost — — — — —

6.	 (Excess)/short of 
obligation over plan 
assets 74.71 66.24 53.47 25.26 17.64

				    	 (b)	 Gratuity
(Currency: INR in Lakhs)

Particulars Gratuity

2018-19 2017-18 2016-17 2015-16 2014-15

1.	 Present value of defined 
benefit obligation 219.08 177.13 122.53 84.97 67.05

2.	 Present value of defined 
benefit assets (35.00) (38.86) (30.25) (18.35) (6.08)

3.	 Experience adjustment 
on plan liabilities 3.22 5.82 9.77 (4.49) 2.85

4.	 Experience adjustment 
on plan assets 0.78 0.56 1.59 0.22 —

5.	 Unrecognised past 
service cost — — — — —

6.	 (Excess)/short of 
obligation over plan 
assets 184.08 138.27 92.28 66.62 60.97

The Company expects to contribute approximately ` 184.08 lakhs (previous year ` 138.27 
lakhs) to the gratuity fund in the next year.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)

29.	 Employee benefit expenses (Continued)
XI	 Investment pattern: Compensated absences Gratuity

2018-19 2017-18 2018-19 2017-18

	 Government of India securities 0% 0% 0% 0%
	 State government securities 0% 0% 0% 0%
	 High quality corporate bonds 0% 0% 0% 0%
	 Equity shares of listed companies 0% 0% 0% 0%
	 Property 0% 0% 0% 0%
	 Special deposit scheme 0% 0% 0% 0%
	 Policy of insurance* 0% 0% 100% 100%
	 Bank balance 0% 0% 0% 0%
	 Other investments 0% 0% 0% 0%
	 Total 0% 0% 100% 100%

* Components of investment by the insurance company are:
Particulars Gratuity

2018-19 2017-18

Government securities 21.99% 25.53%
Corporate bonds -

AAA 36.09% 30.71%
AA+ 16.81% 22.32%
AA 13.89% 14.84%
Cash, deposits, MMI 11.22% 6.60%

Total 100.00% 100.00%

30	 INCOME TAXES

30.1	 Income tax recognised in profit or loss
	 See Accounting Policy in Note No. 3.10

(Currency: INR in Lakhs)

Particulars For the year ended  
31 March 2019

For the year ended  
31 March 2018

Current tax

In respect of the current year 5,688.00 4,906.00

In respect of prior years 6.20 178.98

Total current tax 5,694.20 5,084.98

Deferred tax

In respect of the current year: origination & reversal of temporary 
differences (172.88) (181.09)

Total income tax expense recognised in the current year 5,521.32 4,903.89
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30.2	 Reconciliation of current tax expense with the accounting profit:
(Currency: INR in Lakhs)

Particulars For the year ended  
31 March 2019

For the year ended 
31 March 2018

Profit before tax 15,690.56 13,561.43

Income tax expense calculated at 34.944% (2017-18: 34.608%) 5,483.00 4,693.00

Effect of expenses that are not deductible in determining taxable profit 123.00 214.00

Effect of incomes which are exempt from tax (22.82) (6.18)

Adjustments in respect of current income tax of prior years 6.20 178.98

Others 104.82 5.18

Income tax expense recognised in statement of profit and loss 5,694.20 5,084.98

The tax rate used for the reconciliations above is the corporate tax rate of 34.944% for the year 2018-19 and 
34.608% for 2017-18 payable by corporate entities in India on taxable profits under tax law in Indian jurisdiction.

30.3	 Deferred tax
	 See Accounting Policy in Note No. 3.10

The following table shows deferred tax recorded in the balance sheet and changes recorded in the Income 
tax expense:

	 (a)	 FY 2018-19
(Currency: INR in Lakhs)

Particulars 31 March 2019 2018-19

Deferred Tax 
Assets

Deferred Tax 
Liabilities

Income 
Statement

Other Compre-
hensive Income

Depreciation (4.00) 10.00
Application of effective interest rate on financial assets 1,036.00 74.00
Application of effective interest rate on financial liabilities 100.00 (3.00)
Impairment allowance for financial assets 163.00 80.00
Provisions for employee benefits 90.00 — 11.88 5.12
Total deferred tax asset 1,289.00 96.00 172.88 5.12

	 (b)	 FY 2017-18
(Currency: INR in Lakhs)

Particulars 31 March 2018 2017-18

Deferred Tax 
Assets

Deferred Tax 
Liabilities

Income 
Statement

Other Compre-
hensive Income

Depreciation 6.00 2.00
Application of effective interest rate on financial assets 962.00 136.00
Application of effective interest rate on financial liabilities 97.00 (21.00)
Impairment allowance for financial assets 83.00 42.00
Provisions for employee benefits 73.00 — 22.09 (0.00)
Total deferred tax asset 1,118.00 103.00 181.09 (0.09)
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	 (c)	 As on 01 April 2017
(Currency: INR in Lakhs)

Particulars Deferred Tax 
Assets

Deferred Tax  
Liabilities

01 April 2017 01 April 2017

Depreciation 8.00
Application of effective interest rate on financial assets 826.00
Application of effective interest rate on financial liabilities 76.00
Impairment allowance for financial assets 41.00
Provisions for employee benefits 51.00  
Total deferred tax asset 918.00 84.00

31.	 EARNINGS PER SHARE
	 See Accounting Policy in Note No. 3.16

Basic earnings per share (EPS) is calculated by dividing the net profit for the year attributable to equity 
holders of Company by the weighted average number of equity shares outstanding during the year.

Diluted EPS is calculated by dividing the net profit attributable to equity shareholders of Company (after 
adjusting for dividend on the convertible preference shares, net of tax) by the weighted average number of 
equity shares outstanding during the year plus the weighted average number of equity shares that would be 
issued on the conversion of all the dilutive potential ordinary shares into ordinary shares.

In accordance with the Ind AS 33 - “Earnings Per Share”, following disclosures are made:
(Currency: INR in Lakhs)

Particulars Units 2018-19 2017-18

Profit after tax ` 10,169.24 8,657.54

Less: Dividend on preference shares and 
attributable tax thereon ` 0.81 0.81
Profit after tax for basic EPS ` 10,168.43               8,656.73
Weighted average number of equity shares for 
calculating basic earnings per share Numbers 67,580,121 61,684,692
Face value of equity shares ` 10 10
Basic earnings per share ` 15.05 14.03
Profit after tax for diluted EPS 10,169.24 8,657.54
Weighted average number of equity shares for 
calculating diluted earnings per share Numbers 122,575,812 116,680,383
Face value of equity shares ` 10 10
Diluted earnings per share ` 8.30 7.42
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Weighted average number of shares outstanding during the year for diluted earnings per share:

Particulars 2018-19 2017-18

Numbers Numbers

Weighted average number of shares of ` 10 each outstanding 
during the year – for calculating basic earnings per share 67,580,121 61,684,692

Add: Diluted effect of potential equity shares of ` 10 each 
that could arise on conversion of 6,69,99,956 (previous year 
6,69,99,956) compulsorily convertible preference shares 54,995,691 54,995,691

Weighted average number of shares of ` 10 each outstanding 
during the year – for calculating diluted earnings per share 122,575,812 116,680,383

The reconciliation between basic and diluted earnings per share is as follows:

Particulars 2018-19 2017-18

Basic earnings per share 15.05 14.03
Effect of dilution of compulsorily convertible preference shares 6.75 6.61
Diluted earnings per share 8.30 7.42

Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
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32.	 MATURITY ANALYSIS OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

The table below shows an analysis of assets and liabilities analysed according to when they are expected to 
be recovered or settled, based on the rollover and prepayment assumptions approved by the Asset Liability 
Management Committee of the Company. With regard to loans and advances to customers, the Company 
uses the same basis of expected repayment behaviour as used for estimating the effective interest rate.

(Currency: INR in Lakhs)

Particulars 31 March 2019 31 March 2018 01 April 2017

Within 12 
months

After 12 
months

Total Within 12 
months

After 12 
months

Total Within 12 
months

After 12 
months

Total

Assets

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents 14,295.74 — 14,295.74 1,288.48 — 1,288.48 1,018.35 — 1,018.35

Bank balance other than cash and cash 
equivalents

141.61 — 141.61 141.61 — 141.61 136.99 — 136.99

Trade receivables 27.13 — 27.13 35.84 — 35.84 19.68 — 19.68

Loans 93,906.37 439,490.72 533,397.10 69,101.41 354,317.72 423,419.13 54,298.19 275,737.35 330,035.54

Other financial assets 80.19 155.34 235.53 78.13 93.27 171.40 33.84 105.14 138.98

Non-financial assets — —

Current tax asset 60.44 — 60.44 68.16 — 68.16 6.76 — 6.76

Deferred tax assets (net) — 1,193.00 1,193.00 — 1,015.00 1,015.00 — 834.00 834.00

Property, plant and equipment — 191.29 191.29 — 226.49 226.49 — 185.19 185.19

Other intangible assets — 56.95 56.95 — 57.80 57.80 — 11.53 11.53

Capital work in progress — — — — — — — 3.82 3.82

Intangible assets under development — — — — 2.00 2.00 — — —

Other non-financial assets 117.52 — 117.52 133.74 0.00 133.74 39.26 (0.00) 39.26

Total assets 108,629.00 441,087.30 549,716.31 70,847.37 355,712.28 426,559.65 55,553.07 276,877.03 332,430.10

Liabilities

Financial liabilities

Trade payables

i)	 Total outstanding dues of creditors 
micro enterprises and small enterprises

— — — — — — — — —

ii)	 Total outstanding dues of creditors 
other than micro enterprises and small 
enterprises

1,018.39 — 1,018.39 873.65 — 873.65 682.39 — 682.39

Debt securities 28,940.57 177,407.80 206,348.37 18,366.46 163,336.83 181,703.29 9,438.95 127,621.91 137,060.86

Borrowings (other than debt securities) 9,232.30 213,412.08 222,644.38 6,674.62 146,172.53 152,847.15 6,105.08 126,661.71 132,766.79

Subordinated liabilities — 47,376.77 47,376.77 — 39,888.77 39,888.77 — 24,932.89 24,932.89

Other financial liabilities 8,381.70 — 8,381.70 5,484.78 — 5,484.78 5,126.18 — 5,126.18

Non-financial liabilities

Current tax liability 264.39 — 264.39 196.27 — 196.27 2.36 — 2.36

Provisions 40.63 248.05 288.68 37.05 176.24 213.29 53.47 98.71 152.18

Other non-financial liabilities 322.78 24.58 347.36 428.35 28.82 457.17 69.98 393.03 463.01

Total liabilities 48,200.76 438,469.28 486,670.04 32,061.18 349,603.19 381,664.37 21,478.41 279,708.25 301,186.66

Net 60,428.24 2,618.02 63,046.27 38,786.19 6,109.09 44,895.28 34,074.66 (2,831.22) 31,243.44

Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
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33.	 CHANGE IN LIABILITIES ARISING FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

33.1	 For the period ended 31 March 2019
(Currency: INR in Lakhs)

Particulars 31 March 2018 Cash flows Other 31 March 2019

Debt securities 181,703.29 24,615.58 29.50 206,348.37
Borrowings other than debt securities 192,735.92 77,319.84 (34.61) 270,021.15
Total liabilities from financing activities 374,439.21 101,935.42 (5.11) 476,369.52

33.2	 For the period ended 31 March 2018
(Currency: INR in Lakhs)

Particulars 01 April 2017 Cash flows Other 31 March 2018

Debt securities 137,060.86 44,659.01 (16.58) 181,703.29
Borrowings other than debt securities 157,699.68 35,187.31 (151.07) 192,735.92
Total liabilities from financing activities 294,760.54 79,846.32 (167.65) 374,439.21
Other column includes the effect of accrued but not paid interest on borrowing, amortisation of processing 
fees etc.

34.	 RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES

As per the Indian Accounting Standard on “Related Party Disclosure” (Ind AS 24), following disclosure are made:

34.1	 Details of related parties

	 1.	 Holding Company:
		  Housing Development Finance Corporation Limited

	 2.	 Other related parties with whom transactions have taken place during the year
		  (a)	 Fellow Subsidiaries:
			   HDFC ERGO General Insurance Company Limited
			   HDFC Life Insurance Company Limited (erstwhile HDFC Standard Life Insurance Company Limited)
			   HDFC Sales Private Limited

		  (b)	 Associate of Holding Company
			   HDFC Bank Limited

		  (c)	 Trust owned by holding company 
			   H T Parekh Foundation

		  (d)	 Key Management Personnel:
Mr. V. Srinivasa Rangan, Chairman
Mr. B. Mahapatra, Independent Director
Mr. Amitabh Chaudhry, Independent Director (Upto October 14, 2018)
Mr. Sudhin Choksey, Independent Director
Ms. Madhumita Ganguli, Non- Executive Director
Mr. Subodh Salunke, Executive Vice Chairman
Mr. Suresh Badami, Additional Director (Independent Director) (From January 11, 2019 Upto April 19, 2019)
Mr. Anil Bohora, Managing Director
Mr. Ajay Bohora, Managing Director & CEO

Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
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34.	 RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (Continued)
34.2	 The nature and volume of transactions of the Company with the above Related parties were as follows:

(Currency: INR in Lakhs)

Particulars Holding Company Fellow subsidiaries Associate of holding 
company

Key management 
personnel

Trust owned by holding 
company

Total

2018-19 2017-18 2018-19 2017-18 2018-19 2017-18 2018-19 2017-18 2018-19 2017-18 2018-19 2017-18

` ` ` ` ` ` ` ` ` ` ` `

1. Commission received 
for sourcing home 
loans 6.54 4.85 — — — — — — — — 6.54 4.85

2. Commission received 
for sourcing of fixed 
deposits 42.02 49.50 — — — — — — — — 42.02 49.50

3. Commission received 
for sourcing insurance — — 56.26 9.22 — — — — — — 56.26 9.22

4. Interest on deposits — — — — 0.69 0.71 — — — — 0.69 0.71

5. Staff expenses 
of executive vice 
chairman on 
deputation 59.36 — — — — — — — — — 59.36 —

6. Staff expenses 
of employee on 
deputation 9.13 — — — — — — — — — 9.13 —

7. Staff welfare 
expenses 1.77 — 22.31 17.27 — — — — — — 24.08 17.27

8. Reimbursement of 
GST expenses 3.60 — — — — — — — — — 3.60 —

9. Interest paid on NCD — — — — 5,100.00 3,595.06 — — — — 5,100.00 3,595.06

10. Directors’ insurance — — 1.05 1.04 — — — — — — 1.05 1.04

11. Bank charges — — — — 1.50 1.56 — — — — 1.50 1.56

12. Brokerage or 
commission paid — — 21.07 — 473.61 414.49 — — — — 494.68 414.49

13. Gratuity funding — — 12.00 12.00 — — — — — — 12.00 12.00

14. Preference share 
dividend provided 0.67 0.67 — — — — — — — — 0.67 0.67

15. Directors’ fees — — — — — — 17.40 20.90 — — 17.40 20.90

16. Right shares issued 
(including premium) 8,000.00 4,999.99 — — — — — — — — 8,000.00 4,999.99

17. Contribution towards 
corporate social 
responsibility — — — — — — — — 101.44 69.68 101.44 69.68

18. Remuneration

Commission to 
Key Management 
Personnel — — — — — — 140.00 112.00 — — 140.00 112.00

Salaries and other 
employee benefits 
to Key Management 
Personnel — — — — — — 202.85 196.10 — — 202.85 196.10

Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
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35.	 CAPITAL

The Company maintains an actively managed capital base to cover risks inherent in the business and is 
meeting the capital adequacy requirements of Reserve Bank of India (RBI). The adequacy of the Company’s 
capital is monitored using, among other measures, the regulations issued by RBI.

	 Capital management
	 The Company’s objectives when managing capital are
	 to	 safeguard their ability to continue as a going concern, so that they can continue to provide returns for 

shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders, and
	 to	 maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.
	 In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Company may adjust the amount of dividends paid to 

shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.
	 Consistent with general industry practice, the Company monitors capital on the basis of the Capital Adequacy 

Ratio requirements of the RBI and of the following gearing ratio: Net debt (total borrowings net of cash and 
cash equivalents) divided by Total ‘equity’ (as shown in the balance sheet).

Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)

36.	 FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

36.1	 There are no financial assets or liabilities that are measured at FVTPL or FVOCI.

36.2	 Fair value of financial instruments not measured at fair value
Set out below is a comparison, by class, of the carrying amounts and fair values of the Company’s financial 
instruments that are not carried at fair value in the financial statements. This table does not include the fair 
values of non–financial assets and non–financial liabilities. To provide an indication about the reliability of 
the inputs used in determining fair value, the Company has classified its financial instruments into the three 
levels prescribed under the accounting standard. An explanation of each level follows underneath the table.

	 (a)	 As at 31 March 2019
(Currency: INR in Lakhs)

Particulars Carrying Value Fair Value Total

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Financial assets
Loans 5,33,397.10 — — 5,33,397.10 5,33,397.10
Total financial assets 5,33,397.10 — — 5,33,397.10 5,33,397.10
Financial liabilities
Debt securities 2,12,105.34 — — 2,12,472.99 2,12,472.99
Borrowings (other than debt 
securities)

2,22,753.11 — — 2,22,753.11 2,22,753.11

Subordinated liabilities 49,892.77 — — 50,822.34 50,822.34
Total financial liabilities 4,84,751.22 — — 4,86,048.44 4,86,048.44
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	 (b)	 As at 31 March 2018
(Currency: INR in Lakhs)

Particulars Carrying Value Fair Value Total

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Financial assets
Loans 4,23,419.13 — — 4,23,419.13 4,23,419.13
Total financial assets 4,23,419.13 — — 4,23,419.13 4,23,419.13
Financial liabilities
Debt securities 1,85,220.00 — — 1,84,579.26 1,84,579.26
Borrowings (other than debt 
securities)

1,52,873.17 — — 1,52,873.17 1,52,873.17

Subordinated liabilities 41,830.83 — — 42,981.52 42,981.52
Total financial liabilities  3,79,924.00 — — 3,80,433.95 3,80,433.95

	 (c)	 As at 01 April 2017
(Currency: INR in Lakhs)

Particulars Carrying Value Fair Value Total

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Financial assets

Loans 3,30,035.54 — — 3,30,035.54 3,30,035.54

Total financial assets 3,30,035.54 — — 3,30,035.54 3,30,035.54

Financial liabilities

Debt securities 1,40,797.32 — — 1,41,969.99 1,41,969.99

Borrowings (other than debt 
securities)

1,32,781.26 — — 1,32,781.26 1,32,781.26

Subordinated liabilities 26,308.14 — — 27,946.19 27,946.19

Total financial liabilities 2,99,886.72 — — 3,02,697.44 3,02,697.44

	 Valuation methodologies of financial instruments not measured at fair value

	 Short term and other financial assets and liabilities

The management assessed that cash and bank balances, trade receivables, trade payables and other 
financial assets and liabilities approximate their carrying amounts, net of impairments, if any, largely due to 
the short term maturities of these instruments.

	 Loans

Since substantially all loans reprice to reflect current market price, the carrying values of these loans 
approximate their fair values.

	 Debt securities, borrowings (other than debt securities) and subordinated liabilities

For fixed rate borrowings, fair value is estimated at portfolio level by discounted cash flow model incorporating 
market interest rates and the Company’s own credit risk or based on market-observable data, as relevant.
Since floating rate borrowings are linked to MCLR which reflects the fair value, hence carrying amount 
approximates the fair value.

Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)



1064

M1064 K1064

M1064 K1064

Fourteenth Annual Report 2018-19

37.	 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
The Company’s activities expose it to credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk. The Company places 
emphasis on risk management practices to ensure an appropriate balance between risks and returns. 
Risk management is driven by the board of directors, with the overall responsibility assigned to the Risk 
Management Committee of the board. The Company manages key risks based on the risk management 
framework and policy formulated and adopted by the risk management committee.
This note explains the sources of risk which the Company is exposed to and how the Company manages the risk
Risk Exposure arising from Measurement Management

Credit risk Financial assets 
measured at amortised 
cost, Trade receivables.

Aging analysis Credit policy and underwriting norms, 
family member taken as co-borrowers, 
collateral security, etc.

Liquidity risk Borrowings and other 
liabilities

ALM Reports Availability of committed credit lines 
and borrowing facilities, monitoring 
forecast and actual cash flow and 
by matching the maturity profiles of 
financial assets and liabilities.

Market risk – 
interest rate risk

Long-term borrowings at 
variable rates

Sensitivity analysis Financial assets are at floating rate

The Company’s risk management is carried out by the senior management under policies approved by the 
Board of Directors. The Board provides written principles for overall risk management, as well as policies 
covering specific areas.

37.1	 Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk of loss that may occur from the failure of any party to abide by the terms and conditions 
of any contract, principally the failure to make required payments of amounts due to the Company. In its 
lending operations, the Company is principally exposed to credit risk. The credit risk is governed by the Credit 
policy approved by the board of directors.

37.1.1	 Credit risk assessment methodology
	 Analysis of risk concentration

Since the Company provides only retail education loans, there is not significant concentration risk at the 
borrower/counterparty level.

Concentration based on the geographic study location of student being funded is as follows:
(Currency: INR in Lakhs)

Principal Outstanding India USA Other Countries Total

As on 31 March 2019 53,787.31            3,46,471.08 133,640.71 533,899.10
As on 31 March 2018 51,975.97            288,696.39 83,005.29 423,677.65
As on 1 April 2017 50,014.11            226,958.40 53,198.58 330,171.09

37.1.2	 Expected credit loss

Expected credit losses are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses (i.e. the present value of all cash 
shortfalls) over the expected life of the financial instrument. A cash shortfall is the difference between the 
cash flows that are due to an entity in accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the entity expects 
to receive. Because expected credit losses consider the amount and timing of payments, a credit loss arises 
even if the entity expects to be paid in full but later than when contractually due.

Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
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	 (a)	 Key components of Credit Risk assessment
		  The key components of Credit Risk assessment are:
		  —	 Probability of Default (PD): represents the likelihood of default over a defined time horizon.
		  —	 Exposure at Default (EAD): represents how much the counter-party is likely to be borrowing at the 

time of default.
		  —	 Loss Given Default (LGD): represents the proportion of EAD that is likely to be lost post-default.
		  —	 The ECL is computed as a product of PD, LGD and EAD.

	 (b)	 Analysis of inputs to the ECL model under multiple economic scenarios
The company considers PD estimates that have been adjusted using the macroeconomic overlay.  
A macroeconomic overlay has been applied taking into account portfolio specific macroeconomic factors 
that affect Probability of Default which capture the economic conditions of the country. A macroeconomic 
scalar has been computed using statistical and regression analysis. The scalar has been forecasted 
for six years. The scalar is then multiplied with the PD term structure on a rolling basis to arrive at the 
macroeconomic adjusted PD term structure.
The company has considered Macro economis variables specific to the country of study of the student. 
Gross Domestic Product has been considered as India-specific variable and Housing Price Index as USA-
specific variable. To ensure completeness and accuracy, the data from reliable sources (International 
Monetary Fund, Federal Reserve etc.) and Credit Risk Department; with the help of external consultants 
verifies the accuracy of inputs to the Company’s ECL models including determining the weights attributable 
to the three scenarios considered; i.e. a base case, an upside and a downside.

	 (c)	 Definition and assessment of default
		  The Company considers the following as constituting an event of default:
		  •	 the borrower is past due more than 90days on any material credit obligation to the Company; or
		  •	 the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the Company in full.
		  When assessing if the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligation, the Company takes into account 

both qualitative and quantitative indicators. Quantitative indicators, such as overdue status and non-
payment on another obligation to the Company of the same counterparty are key inputs in this analysis.

		  Delinquency buckets have been considered as the primary basis for the staging of all loans with:
		  -	 0-30 days past due loans classified as stage 1

		  -	 31-90 days past due loans classified as stage 2 and

		  -	 Above 90 days past due loans classified as stage 3

		  -	 Alongwith delinquency buckets; the criterias developed internally to analyse whether there is increase 
in credit risk are considered for staging of loans.

	 (d)	 Other Inputs to the ECL Computation
The following inputs are explained in the Significant Accounting Policies (Note 3.2.5). 
- 	 Significant increase in credit risk of the credit exposure 
- 	 ECL computation methodology
-	 Policy on write off of loan assets

Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
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	 (e)	 Internal grading system
The Company’s independent Credit Risk Department operates as per internal rating models. The 
Company runs separate models for its portfolio in which its customers are rated from ‘Standard’ to ‘NPA’ 
using internal grades. The models incorporates quantitative information specific to the borrower.

		  The Company’s internal credit rating grades:

Internal rating grade Internal rating description

Standard Principal or interest payment not overdue
SMA-1 Principal or interest payment overdue between 31-60 days
SMA-2 Principal or interest payment overdue between 61-90 days
NPA Principal or interest payment overdue more than 90 days

		 (f)	 Credit quality of assets
		  The table below shows the credit quality and the maximum exposure to credit risk based on the Group’s 

internal credit rating system and year-end stage classification. The amounts presented are gross of 
impairment allowances.

Particulars As at 31 March 2019 As at 31 March 2018 As at 01 April 2017
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

Internal rating grade
Standard 5,32,108.19 272.84 — 5,32,381.03 4,21,868.00 456.02 — 4,22,324.02 3,28,939.24 466.55 — 3,29,405.79
SMA - 1 — 732.05 — 732.05 — 706.71 — 706.71 — 479.42 — 479.42
SMA - 2 — 384.77 — 384.77 — 453.08 — 453.08 — 121.12 — 121.12
Non Performing 
Assets

— — 401.26 401.26 — — 193.84 193.84 — — 164.76 164.76

Total 5,32,108.19 1,389.65 401.26 5,33,899.10 4,21,868.00 1,615.81 193.84 4,23,677.65 3,28,939.24 1,067.09 164.76 3,30,171.09

	 (g)	 An analysis of changes in the gross carrying amount and the corresponding ECL allowances in relation 
to lending is, as follows:

	 (I)	 Reconciliation of the gross carrying amount:
Particulars As at 31 March 2019 As at 31 March 2018

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
Gross carrying amount opening balance 4,21,868.00 1,615.81 193.84 4,23,677.65 3,28,939.24 1,067.09 164.76 3,30,171.09
New assets originated or purchased 2,06,321.32 181.05 - 2,06,502.37 1,62,320.21 264.58 - 1,62,584.79
Assets derecognised or repaid (excluding write offs) (95,864.65) (326.55) (95.88) (96,287.09) (68,767.06) (216.34) (104.27) (69,087.67)
Transfers to Stage 1 890.93 (887.43) (3.51) - 661.15 (646.45) (14.70) -
Transfers to Stage 2 (986.69) 991.10 (4.42) - (1,179.92) 1,185.09 (5.17) -
Transfers to Stage 3 (120.73) (184.34) 305.06 - (105.63) (38.15) 143.78 -
Amounts written off - - 6.17 6.17 - - 9.43 9.43
Gross carrying amount closing balance 5,32,108.19 1,389.65 401.26 5,33,899.10 4,21,868.00 1,615.81 193.84 4,23,677.65

Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
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	 (II)	 Reconciliation of impairment loss allowance on gross carrying value of loan is given below: (Refer note 7)
Particulars For the year ended As at 31 March 2019 For the year ended As at 31 March 2018

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
ECL allowance - opening balance 73.84 153.42 31.26 258.52 37.23 65.89 32.43 135.55
New assets originated or purchased 21.38 4.88 - 26.27 9.45 3.52 - 12.97
Assets derecognised or repaid (excluding write offs) (12.92) (19.50) (10.80) (43.21) (4.78) (2.02) (10.39) (17.19)
Transfers to Stage 1 73.46 (70.95) (2.52) - 44.11 (39.15) (4.96) -
Transfers to Stage 2 (0.41) 1.54 (1.13) - (0.18) 1.86 (1.68) -
Transfers to Stage 3 (0.04) (23.99) 24.03 - (0.01) (5.17) 5.18 -
Impact on year end ECL of exposures transferred between 
stages during the year

(71.52) 115.89 28.62 72.99 (43.33) 127.04 13.99 97.70

Changes to models and inputs used for ECL calculations 186.78 1.27 0.70 188.75 31.34 1.45 (3.32) 29.47
Amounts written off - - (1.31) (1.31) - - - -
ECL allowance - closing balance 270.58 162.56 68.86 502.00 73.84 153.42 31.26 258.52

The increase in ECLs of the portfolio was driven by an increase in the gross size of the portfolio and 
movements between stages as a result of increases in credit risk.

	 (III)	 Reconciliation of impairment loss allowance on undisbursed commitments is given below: (Refer note 19)
Particulars For the year ended As at 31 March 2019 For the year ended As at 31 March 2018

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
ECL allowance - opening balance 8.64 0.14 - 8.78 6.41 0.02 - 6.43
New assets originated or purchased 6.93 0.05 - 6.98 3.30 0.07 - 3.37
Assets derecognised or repaid (excluding write offs) (2.46) (0.03) - (2.50) (1.07) (0.01) - (1.09)
Transfers to Stage 1 0.09 (0.09) - - - - - -
Transfers to Stage 2 (0.03) 0.03 - - (0.01) 0.01 - -
Transfers to Stage 3 - (0.01) 0.01 0.00 - - - -
Impact on year end ECL of exposures transferred between 
stages during the year

(0.08) 0.13 (0.01) 0.04 - 0.05 - 0.05

Changes to models and inputs used for ECL calculations 16.59 (0.01) - 16.58 0.02 - - 0.03
ECL allowance - closing balance 29.68 0.21 - 29.89 8.64 0.14 - 8.78

37.1.3	 Collateral held and other credit enhancements
Based on the Board approved credit policy, the Company provides fully secured, partially secured and 
unsecured education loans to individuals. The parameters relating to acceptability and valuation of each 
type of collateral are a part of the Credit Policy of the Company. The Company obtains collateral in the form 
of mortgages over immovable properties, fixed deposits and insurance policies. The Company does not have 
any credit enhancement arrangement.
In its normal course of business, the Company does not physically repossess properties. For other collaterals 
the Company liquidates the assets and recover the amount due against the loan. Any surplus funds are 
returned to the customers/obligors.
Disclosure of credit quality and the maximum exposure for credit risk and year-end stage classification are 
further disclosed in Note 37.1.2.
The tables set out below show the maximum exposure to credit risk by class of financial asset. They also 
shows the total fair value of collateral and the net exposure to credit risk. The fair value of the collateral is 
done as per the Credit Policy at the time of sanction of the loan.

Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)



1068

M1068 K1068

M1068 K1068

Fourteenth Annual Report 2018-19

	 (a)	 As on 31 March 2019	 (Currency: INR in Lakhs)

Fair value of collaterals and credit enhancements held

Maximum 
exposure to 
credit risk

Immovable 
properties

Fixed  
deposits

Insurance 
policies

Total  
collateral

Net  
exposure

Associated 
ECLs

Financial assets

Cash & bank balance 14,437.35 — — — — 14,437.35 —

Loans 533,397.10 220,093.09 6,534.06 — 226,627.15 306,769.95 502.00

Trade receivables 27.13 — — — — 27.13 —

Other financial assets 235.53 — — — — 235.53 —

Total financial assets at amortised cost 548,097.11 220,093.09 6,534.06 — 226,627.15 321,469.96 502.00

	 (b)	 As on 31 March 2018	 (Currency: INR in Lakhs)

Fair value of collaterals and credit enhancements held

Maximum 
exposure to 
credit risk

Immovable 
properties

Fixed  
deposits

Insurance 
policies

Total  
collateral

Net  
exposure

Associated 
ECLs

Financial assets

Cash & bank balance 1,430.09 — — — — 1,430.09 —

Loans 423,419.13 186,931.45 6,050.00 1.60 192,983.05 230,436.08 258.52

Trade receivables 35.84 — — — — 35.84 —

Other financial assets 171.40 — — — — 171.40 —

Total financial assets at amortised cost 425,056.46 186,931.45 6,050.00 1.60 192,983.05 232,073.41 258.52

	 (c)	 As on 01 April 2017	 (Currency: INR in Lakhs)

Fair value of collaterals and credit enhancements held

Maximum 
exposure to 
credit risk

Immovable 
properties

Fixed  
deposits

Insurance 
policies

Total  
collateral

Net  
exposure

Associated 
ECLs

Financial assets

Cash & bank balance 1,155.34 — — — — 1,155.34 —

Loans 330,035.54 158,958.60 5,012.61 2.81 163,974.02 166,061.52 135.55

Trade receivables 19.68 — — — — 19.68 —

Other financial assets 138.98 — — — — 138.98 —

Total financial assets at amortised cost 331,349.54 158,958.60 5,012.61 2.81 163,974.02 167,375.52 135.55

37.2	 Market risk

It is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of financial instruments will fluctuate due to changes in 
market variables such as interest rates, foreign exchange rates.

37.2.1	 Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk arises from the possibility that changes in interest rates will affect future cash flows or the 
fair values of financial instruments.
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Interest rate risk primarily arises from floating rate financial instruments. Exposure to fluctuations in 
interest rates is also measured by way of gap analysis, providing a static view of the maturity and re-pricing 
characteristic of Balance sheet positions. An interest rate sensitivity gap report is prepared by classifying all 
rate sensitive assets and rate sensitive liabilities into various time period categories according to contracted/
behavioural maturities or anticipated re-pricing date. The difference in the amount of rate sensitive assets 
and rate sensitive liabilities maturing or being re-priced in any time period category, gives an indication of the 
extent of exposure to the risk of potential changes in the margins on new or re-priced assets and liabilities.

	 (a)	 Interest rate sensitivity

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in interest rates (all 
other variables being constant) on the statement of profit and loss.

The sensitivity of the statement of profit and loss is the effect of the assumed changes in interest rates 
on the profit or loss for a year, based on the floating rate financial instruments held at the year end :-

Particulars Impact on profit after tax

31 March 2019 31 March 2018

Interest rates — increase by 50 basis 1,012.45 880.96
Interest rates — decrease by 50 basis (1,012.45) (880.96)

37.2.2	 Foreign currency exchange rate risk
The Company’s financial assets and financial liabilities are primarily in INR. Hence, the Company is not 
significantly exposed to currency risk.

37.3	 Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the current and prospective risk arising out of an inability to meet financial commitments as 
they fall due, through available cash flows or through the sale of assets at fair market value.

The Asset Liability Committee (ALCO) of the Company formulates and reviews strategies and provides guidance 
for management of liquidity risk within the framework laid out in the Asset Liability Management Policy.

The Company manages liquidity risk by maintaining sufficient cash and cash equivalents and by having 
access to funding through an adequate amount of committed credit lines. The Company maintains flexibility in 
funding by maintaining availability under committed credit lines to meet obligations when due. Management 
regularly monitors the position of cash and cash equivalents vis-à-vis projections.

Maturities of non derivative financial liabilities

The tables below analyses the Company’s financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on their 
contractual maturities for all financial liabilities for which the contractual maturities are essential for an 
understanding of the timing of the cash flows.
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The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows.

Non derivative financial liabilities  
31 March 2019

Due in 1 year Between  
1 and 2 years

Between  
3 and 5 years

Beyond  
5 years

Total

Trade payables 1,018.39 — — — 1,018.39

Debt securities 96,468.58 109,879.80 — — 206,348.37

Borrowings (other than debt securities) 59,465.83 92,666.11 44,274.60 26,237.83 222,644.38

Subordinated liabilities — — — 47,376.77 47,376.77

Other financial liabilities 8,381.70 — — — 8,381.70

Total 165,334.50 202,545.91 44,274.60 73,614.60 485,769.61

Non derivative financial liabilities  
31 March 2018

Due in 1 year Between  
1 and 2 years

Between  
3 and 5 years

Beyond  
5 years

Total

Trade payables 873.65 — — — 873.65
Debt securities 91,832.31 39,968.72 49,902.26 — 181,703.29
Borrowings (other than debt securities) 33,538.45 70,239.65 36,350.26 12,718.79 152,847.15
Subordinated liabilities — — — 39,888.77 39,888.77
Other financial liabilities 5,484.78 — — — 5,484.78
Total 131,729.19 110,208.37 86,252.53 52,607.56 380,797.64

Non derivative financial liabilities  
01 April 2017

Due in 1 year Between  
1 and 2 years

Between  
3 and 5 years

Beyond  
5 years

Total

Trade payables 682.39 — — — 682.39
Debt securities 47,194.74 39,952.46 49,913.65 — 137,060.86
Borrowings (other than debt securities) 24,905.40 47,443.19 40,758.86 19,659.34 132,766.79
Subordinated liabilities — — — 24,932.89 24,932.89
Other financial liabilities 5,126.18 — — — 5,126.18
Total 77,908.70 87,395.65 90,672.51 44,592.23 300,569.10

38.	 Disclosures pursuant to Reserve Bank of India Master Direction DNBR. PD. 008/03.10.119/2016-17 dated 
September 01, 2016, to the extent applicable to the Company

38.1	 Capital to risk assets ratio (CRAR)	 (Currency: INR in Lakhs)
Items 2018-19 2017-18

CRAR (%) 18.45 17.65
CRAR - Tier I capital (%) 11.55 10.24
CRAR - Tier II capital (%) 6.90 7.41
Amount of subordinated debt raised as Tier-II capital (`) — 10,00,000
Amount raised by issue of Perpetual Debt Instrument (`) 7,50,000 5,00,000
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38.2	 Investments	 (Currency: INR in Lakhs)

Items 2018-19 2017-18
1. Value of investments

i) Gross value of investments — —
(a) In India — —
(b) Outside India — —

ii) Provision for depreciation — —
(a) In India — —
(b) Outside India — —

iii) Net value of investments — —
(a) In India — —
(b) Outside India — —

2. Movement of provisions held towards depreciation on 
investments
i) Opening balance — —
ii) Add: Provisions made during the year — —
iii) Less: Write-off/write-back of excess provisions during the year — —
iv) Closing balance — —

38.3	 The Company is not registered under any other regulator other than Reserve Bank of India and Insurance 
Regulatory & Development Authority of India (IRDAI).

38.4	 During financial year under audit, no penalty has been levied by any regulator.

38.5	 Exposure to real estate sector
The primary purpose of the loan is for education. Considering the nature of business, the management 
believes that there is no direct/indirect exposure to real estate, hence the same has not been considered in 
current and previous financial year.

38.6	 Rating assigned by credit rating agencies and migration of ratings during the year:
Sr. 
No.

Rating Agency Type Current year  
(2018-19)

Previous year  
(2017-18)

1 CARE Issuer rating* CARE AAA (Is) CARE AAA (Is)
Perpetual debt instrument CARE AA+ CARE AA+
Non-convertible debenture CARE AAA CARE AAA
Subordinated debt CARE AAA CARE AAA

2 ICRA Bank Loan ICRA AAA -
Commercial paper ICRA A1+ ICRA A1+
Perpetual debt instrument ICRA AA+ ICRA AA+

3 CRISIL Non-convertible debenture CRISIL AAA CRISIL AAA
Commercial paper CRISIL A1+ CRISIL A1+
Subordinated debt CRISIL AAA CRISIL AAA

	 * Company has requested to withdraw the rating and rating is placed on notice of withdrawal for 1 year.

38.7	 The Company does not have any capital market exposure.
38.8	 The Company does not have any exposure to derivatives including forward rates agreements, interest rate 

swaps and exchange traded derivatives.
38.9	 The Company has not securitised/assigned any of its exposures during the year.
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38.10	 The Company has neither purchased nor sold any non-performing financial assets during the year.

38.11	 There is no financing of parent company product during the current year.

38.12	 The Company has not exceeded single borrower limit (SGL) and nor has exceeded the group borrower limit (GBL).

38.13	 The Company has not given any loans against intangible securities.

38.14	 The Company has made no drawdown from existing reserves.

38.15	 Provisions and contingencies
(Currency: INR in Lakhs)

Break up of ‘Provisions and contingencies’ shown under the head 
expenses in Statement of Profit and Loss

Current year  
(2018-19) 

`

Previous year 
(2017-18) 

`

Provisions for depreciation on investment — —
Provision towards NPA 43.77 8.26
Provision made towards tax expenses (net) 5,521.32 4,903.89
Other provision and contingencies (with details)
Provision for employee benefits
—	 Compensated absences 10.45 14.72
—	 Gratuity 43.15 58.19
Provision for standard assets 227.00 126.49

38.16	 Concentration of advances, exposures and NPAs:
	 (a)	 Concentration of advances

(Currency: INR in Lakhs)
Current year  

(2018-19)
`

Previous year 
(2017-18) 

`

Total advances to twenty largest borrowers 1,802.89 1,710.37
Percentage of advances to twenty largest borrowers to Total 
advances of the NBFC 0.34% 0.40%

	 (b)	 Concentration of exposures [on limit basis or outstanding basis whichever is higher]
(Currency: INR in Lakhs)

Current year  
(2018-19) 

`

Previous year 
(2017-18) 

`

Total exposure to twenty largest borrowers/customers 2,931.00 2,670.00
Percentage of exposures to twenty largest borrowers/customers 
to Total exposure of the NBFC on borrowers/customers 0.39% 0.44%

	 (c)	 Concentration of NPAs	 (Currency: INR in Lakhs)
Current year  

(2018-19) 
`

Previous year 
(2017-18) 

`

Total exposure to top four NPA accounts 167.73 65.26
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	 (d)	 Sector-wise NPAs
Sr. No.Sector Percentage of NPAs to total 

advances in that sector  
Current year (2018-19)

Percentage of NPAs to  
total advances in that sector  

Previous year (2017-18)

1. Agriculture & allied activities — —
2. MSME — —
3. Corporate borrowers — —
4. Services — —
5. Unsecured personal loans — —
6. Auto loans — —
7. Other personal loans — —
8. Education loans 0.08% 0.05%

	 (e)	 Movement of NPAs
(Currency: INR in Lakhs)

Sr. No.Particulars Current year  
(2018-19) 

`

Previous year 
(2017-18)

`

i) Net NPAs to net advances 0.06% 0.04%
ii) Movement of NPAs (Gross)*

(a)	 Opening balance 193.84 164.76
(b)	 Additions during the year 568.59 390.24
(c)	 Reductions during the year (361.17) (361.17)
(d) Closing balance 401.26 193.84

(iii) Movement of Net NPAs*
(a)	 Opening balance 162.58 132.33
(b)	 Additions during the year 472.41 314.80
(c)	 Reductions during the year (302.58) (284.56)
(d)	 Closing balance 332.40 162.58

(iv) Movement of provisions for NPAs (excluding provisions on 
standard assets)*
(a)	 Opening balance 31.26 32.43
(b)	 Provisions made during the year 96.19 75.44
(c)	 Write-off/write-back of excess provisions (58.59) (76.61)
(d)	 Closing balance 68.86 31.26

		     * The Company has considered quarterly accruals and recoveries in presentation of Movement of NPAs.

38.17	 Segment reporting

There is no separate reportable segment as per Ind AS 108 on ‘operating segments’ in respect of the 
Company.

The Company operates in single segment only. There are no operations outside India and hence there is no 
external revenue or assets which requires disclosure.

Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)



1074

M1074 K1074

M1074 K1074

Fourteenth Annual Report 2018-19

38.18	 The Company does not have any overseas assets.

38.19	 The Company has not sponsored any off-balance sheet SPVs.

38.20	 The Company is a non deposit accepting NBFC and as such does not have any depositors.

38.21	 Customer complaints
Sr. No.Particulars Current year  

(2018-19) 
`

Previous year 
(2017-18) 

`

(a) No. of complaints pending at the beginning of the year — —
(b) No. of complaints received during the year 132 94
(c) No. of complaints redressed during the year 131 94
(d) No. of complaints pending at the end of the year 1 —
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39.	 FIRST TIME ADOPTION OF IND AS:

These financial statements, for the year ended 31st March 2019, are the first financial statements that the 
Company has prepared in accordance with Ind AS. For the periods upto and including the year ended 31st 
March 2018, the Company prepared its financial statements in accordance with the accounting standards 
notified under Section 133 of the Companies Act, 2013, read together with paragraph 7 of the Companies 
(Accounts) Rules, 2014 (Previous GAAP). Accordingly, the Company has prepared its financial statements 
to comply with Ind AS for the year ending 31st March 2019, together with comparative information as at 
and for the year ended 31st March 2018, as described in the summary of significant accounting policies. In 
preparing these financial statements, the Company’s opening Balance Sheet was prepared as at 1st April 
2017 i.e. the transition date to Ind AS for the Company.

This note explains the principal adjustment made by the Company in restating its Previous GAAP financial 
statements, including the Balance Sheet as at 1st April 2017, and the financial statements as at and for the 
year ended 31st March 2018.

Exemptions availed:

In preparing these financial statements, the Company has applied the below mentioned optional and 
mandatory exceptions:

	 •	 Deemed cost for property, plant and equipment and intangible assets:

		  The Company has elected to continue with the carrying value of all of its property, plant and equipment 
and intangible assets recognised as of 1st April, 2017, measured as per the Previous GAAP and use that 
carrying value as its deemed cost as of the transition date under Ind AS.

	 •	 Classification and measurement of financial assets:

		  The Company has classified the financial assets in accordance with Ind AS 109 on the basis of facts and 
circumstances that exist at the date of transition to Ind AS.

	 •	 Fair value of financial assets and liabilities:

		  As per Ind AS exemption, the Company has not fair valued the financial assets and liabilities retrospectively 
and has measured the same prospectively.

	 •	 Estimates:

		  The estimates at 1 April 2017 and at 31 March 2018 are consistent with those made for the same dates 
in accordance with Indian GAAP (after adjustments to reflect any differences in accounting policies) apart 
from the following item where application of Indian GAAP did not require estimation:

		  —	  Impairment of financial assets based on expected credit loss model

The estimates used by the Company to present these amounts in accordance with Ind AS reflect conditions 
at 1 April 2017, the date of transition to Ind AS and as of 31 March 2018.
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39.2	 Reconciliation statement of profit & loss as previously reported under IGAAP to Ind AS
(Currency: INR in Lakhs)

Particulars Note For the year ended 31 March 2018

IGAAP Adjustments Ind AS

Revenue from operations

(a)	 Interest income 1 47,818.65 (375.65) 47,443.00

(b)	 Dividend income 17.85 — 17.85

(c)	 Fee & commission income 1,021.26 — 1,021.26

I.	 Total revenue from operations 48,857.76 48,482.11

II.	 Other income 0.05 0.05

III.	 Total income (I + II) 48,857.81 48,482.16

IV.	 Expenses

(a)	 Finance costs 1 28,320.99 63.00 28,383.99

(b)	 Impairment on financial instruments  
(Expected credit loss)

2, 3
554.92 (420.18) 134.74

(c)	 Employee benefit expense 6 2,619.65 0.20 2,619.85

(d)	 Depreciation and amortisation expense 63.70 0.01 63.71

(e)	 Other expenses 3,723.38 (4.94) 3,718.44

V.	 Total expenses 35,282.64 34,920.73

VI.	 Profit before tax (III-V) 13,575.17 13,561.43

Income tax expense

-	 Current tax 5,084.98 — 5,084.98

-	 Deferred tax 4 (217.00) 35.91 (181.09)

Total tax expense 4,867.98 4,903.89

VII.	 Net profit after tax 8,707.19 8,657.54

VIII.	 Other comprehensive income 5, 6 — 0.12 0.12

IX.	 Total comprehensive income (VII + VIII) 8,707.19 8,657.66

Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
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39.3	Summary reconciliation between Ind AS and IGAAP for equity and profit:
	 a.	 Reconciliation of equity attributable to shareholders of the Company as on 31 March 2018 and 01 April 2017

(Currency: INR in Lakhs)

Particulars As at 
31 March 2018

As at 
01 April 2017

Equity under previous Indian GAAP 45,544.07 31,926.00
Impact on loans and advances using effective rate of interest and 
net interest on credit impaired loans

(2,744.54) (2,371.55)

Impact on borrowing using effective rate of interest 238.86 218.55
Impact on expected credit loss 1,521.27 1,101.08
Reclassification of net actuarial loss on employee defined benefit 
obligation to other comprehensive income

(0.20) -

Impact due to other adjustments 2.61 0.35
Tax on Ind AS adjustments 333.09 369.00

Net equity reserve before other comprehensive income as perInd AS 44,895.16 31,243.44
Other comprehensive income after tax 0.12 -

Equity under Ind AS 44,895.28 31,243.44

b.	 Reconciliation of net profit (net of tax) for the year ended 31 March 2018	 (Currency: INR in Lakhs)

Particulars For the year 
ended  

31 March 2018
Net profit after tax as per the previous GAAP 8,707.19

Adjustment on account of effective interest rate/ net interest on credit impaired loans (237.87)
Adjustment on account of effective interest rate method relating to borrowing cost (83.99)
Adjustment on account of reclassification of net actuarial gain on employee benefit 
obligation to other comprehensive income

(0.12)

Adjustment on account of provision for expected credit loss 270.08
Other adjustments 2.25

Net profit after tax as per Ind AS 8,657.54
Other comprehensive income (net of tax) 0.12

Total comprehensive income (net of tax) as per Ind AS 8,657.66

39.4	Impact on statement of cash flows
	 There is no significant impact on cash flows from operating, investing and financing activities on transition to Ind AS.

39.5	Footnotes to the reconciliation of equity as at 1 April 2017 and 31 March 2018 and profit or loss for the year 
ended 31 March 2018

	 1.	 Effective interest rate (EIR)
		  Under Indian GAAP, Origination Fees (net of DSA Commission) charged to customers was recognised upfront 

while under Ind AS, such Origination Fees (net of DSA Commission) is included in the initial recognition amount 
of financial asset and recognised as interest income using the effective interest method. Consequently 
interest income for the year ended 31 March 2018 has decreased by ` 375.65 Lakhs.

Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
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39.5	Footnotes to the reconciliation of equity as at 1 April 2017 and 31 March 2018 and profit or loss for the year 
ended 31 March 2018 (Continued)

		  Also, borrowing costs incurred on borrowings was charged to statement of profit and loss upfront while 
under Ind AS, such borrowing costs are included in the initial recognition amount of financial liabilities and 
recognised as interest expense using the effective interest method. Consequently interest expense for the 
year ended 31 March 2018 has increase by ` 63.00 Lakhs.

	 2.	 Reclassification of provision of standard/non-performing assets (NPA)
		  Under Indian GAAP provision for NPA and standard asset were presented under provisions. However, under 

Ind AS financial  assets measured at amortised cost are presented net of provision for expected credit losses. 
Consequently, the Company has reclassified the Indian GAAP provisions for standard assets and NPA’s 
amounting to ` 1,243.06 lakhs and ` 1,788.56 lakhs as on 01 April 2017 and 31 March 2018 respectively.

	 3.	 Expected credit loss (ECL)

	 	 Under Indian GAAP, the Company has created provision for impairment of loans to customer consists only in 
respect of specific amount for incurred losses. Under Ind AS, impairment allowance has been determined 
based on Expected Loss model (ECL). Due to ECL model, the Company impaired its loans to customer by 
` 1101.08 lakhs on 01 April 2017 which has been eliminated against retained earnings. The impact of  
` 420.18 lakhs for year ended on 31 March 2018 has been recognised in the statement of profit and loss.

	 4.	 Deferred tax

		  The Indian GAAP requires deferred tax accounting using the income statement approach, which focuses 
on differences between taxable profits and accounting profits for the period. Ind AS 12 requires entities 
to account for deferred taxes using the Balance Sheet approach, which focuses on temporary differences 
between the carrying amount of an asset or liability in the Balance Sheet and its tax base.

		  In addition, the various transitional adjustments lead to temporary differences. According to the accounting 
policies, the Company has to account for such differences. Deferred tax adjustments are recognised in 
correlation to the underlying transaction in retained earnings.

	 5.	 Other comprehensive income

		  Under Indian GAAP, the Company has not presented other comprehensive income (OCI) separately. Under 
Ind AS, re-measurement of defined benefit plan liability is recognised in OCI.

	 6.	 Defined benefit obligation

		  Both under Indian GAAP and Ind AS, the Company recognised costs related to its post-employment defined 
benefit plan on an actuarial basis. Under Previous GAAP, the entire cost, including actuarial gain and 
losses, are charged to profit or loss. Under Ind AS, remeasurements (comprising of actuarial gains and 
losses, the effect of assets ceiling, excluding amounts included in net interest on the net defined benefit 
liability and return on plan assets excluding amount included in net interest on the net defined benefit 
liability) are recognised in the Balance Sheet through Other Comprehensive Income (OCI). Thus, employee 
benefit expense is reduced by ` 0.20 Lakh and is recognised in OCI during the year ended 31st March 
2018.

		  The current tax amounting to ` 0.08 Lakh is also regrouped from profit or loss to OCI for the year ended 
31st March 2018. The above change does not affect total equity as at 31st March 2018. However profit 
before tax and profit for the year ended 31st March 2018, is reduced by ` 0.20 Lakh and ` 0.12 Lakh 
respectively.

40.	 The Company does not have any capital commitments and contingent liabilities as on the balance sheet date, 
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except as below:

	 There has been a Supreme Court (SC) judgement dated 28th February, 2019, relating to components of salary 
structure that need to be taken into account while computing the contribution to provident fund under the 
EPF Act. There are interpretative aspects related to the Judgement including the effective date of application. 
The Company will continue to assess any further developments in this matter for the implications on financial 
statements, if any.

41.	 The disclosures regarding details of specified bank notes held and transacted during 8 November 2016 to 30 
December 2016 has not been made in these financial statements since the requirement does not pertain to 
financial year ended 31 March 2019.

42.	 There are no subsequent events after the reporting date that requires disclosure in the financial statements.
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